
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB‑2010-0008


	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:
	16

November 26, 2010

Cynthia Chaplin

Cathy Spoel

Marika Hare
	Presiding Member and Vice-Chair

Member

Member


EB-2010-0008

THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O. 1998, c.15 (Schedule B);

AND IN THE MATTER OF an application by Ontario Power Generation Inc. pursuant to section 78.1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 for an order or orders determining payment amounts for the output of certain of its generating facilities.

Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Friday, November 26th, 2010,

commencing at 9:34 a.m.
--------------------

VOLUME 16

--------------------

BEFORE:


CYNTHIA CHAPLIN
Presiding Member and Vice-Chair


CATHY SPOEL
Member


MARIKA HARE
Member

MICHAEL MILLAR
Board Counsel

VIOLET BINETTE
Board Staff

BEN BAKSH

CRAWFORD SMITH
Ontario Power Generation

CARLTON MATHIAS

MICHAEL BUONAGURO
Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition (VECC)

DAVID POCH
Green Energy Coalition (GEC)

JAY SHEPHERD
School Energy Coalition (SEC)

RICHARD STEPHENSON
Power Workers' Union (PWU)

VINCE DeROSE
Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters (CME)

NORMAN RUBIN
Energy Probe Research Foundation

DAVID MacINTOSH


ALSO PRESENT:

BARB REUBER
Ontario Power Generation

1--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.


1Preliminary Matters


2ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 11


J. Mauti, N. Reeve, Previously Sworn

     2Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith


     5Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd


59--- Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.


59--- On resuming at 11:26 a.m.


60Procedural Matters


     62Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch


     69Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro


     75Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose


     79Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubin


     93Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar


     103Re-Examination by Mr. Smith


104Procedural Matters


104--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:42 p.m.





1EXHIBIT NO. K16.1:  TABLE IN RESPONSE TO UNDERTAKING J10.11.


5EXHIBIT NO. K16.2:  LONG-TERM ENERGY PLAN RELEASED BY GOVERNMENT ON NOVEMBER 23, 2010.


6EXHIBIT NO. K16.3:  DRAFT SUPPLY MIX DIRECTIVE POSTED ON THE ONTARIO ENVIRONMENTAL REGISTRY AS NUMBER 011-1701.


6EXHIBIT NO. K16.4:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "COMPARISON OF EVIDENCE ON SCENARIOS".





     NO UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED IN THIS PROCEEDING

No table of figures entries found.NO


Friday, November 26, 2010


--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  We're sitting today for the final day of testimony in OPG's payments proceeding.


Are there any preliminary matters?  Mr. Smith.

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Just a couple of -- or really one preliminary matter.


Mr. Shepherd, who I understand will be cross-examining today, had asked a question by e-mail, to summarize the revenue requirement deficiency in payment amount impacts of the information contained in the various scenarios reflected in undertaking J10.11.


Rather than have that come out from the witnesses, we did prepare a table that provides that information, and perhaps it should be marked as an exhibit.  Copies have been distributed around the room.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair, we have copies for you.  That will be Exhibit K16.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K16.1:  TABLE IN RESPONSE TO UNDERTAKING J10.11.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.


MR. SMITH:  Then if I may, I will just summarize I think where we're at with the information we provided, and I do have just a couple of questions in examination-in-chief which I think will provide some explanation of the various scenarios.

ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 11


John Mauti, Sworn Previously


Nathan Reeve, Sworn Previously
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  So just briefly by way of background, as directed by the Board, OPG filed on November 19th the response to the first three scenarios contemplated by undertaking J10.11, and then a couple of days ago, on the 24th, OPG filed scenario 4.  Then yesterday, OPG filed a refinement to scenarios 1 and 4, which is described as undertaking J10.11, addendum 2, and that reflects a refinement to more closely track OPG's expectations relating to Pickering continued operations.


And if I may, I will just ask Mr. Reeve -- just pausing there, they're still under oath.  I assume we don't need to re-swear the witnesses?


MS. CHAPLIN:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  So I will just ask Mr. Reeve if you could just explain, sir, how scenarios 1a and 4a, which are described in undertaking J10.11, addendum 2 - and maybe start with 1a - differs from scenario 1?


MR. REEVE:  Absolutely.  So scenario 1, we had made the assumption for the -- in line with the undertaking that the end-of-life date for depreciation would be the end of 2020.


On looking at the alignment of this undertaking with the evidence and really looking at the intent of the undertaking, we realized that there was not alignment between that assumption for depreciation purposes and the continued operation scenario.


So, consequently, we have captured an adjusted impact on depreciation, rate base and consequential tax impacts in scenario 1a.


MR. SMITH:  So just focussing in on that point in addendum 2, Mr. Reeve, it indicates, the second paragraph from the bottom on page 1 of 1, that the revised end-of-life dates for Pickering A are coincident with the end-of-life dates of the last two units.


Can you just describe how it is that that more closely aligns with OPG's expectations for continued ops?


MR. REEVE:  Absolutely.


In Exhibit F2-T2-S3, attachment 1, page 8 of 18, which relates to the continued operations evidence, we indicated that the continued operations predicted end-of-life dates for the Pickering B units would be Q2 2018 for units 5 and 6, and Q2 2020 for units 7 and 8.


Pickering A units 1 and 4 would be shut down coincident with the shutdown of Pickering units 7 and 8 in Q2 2020.  What that means for depreciation, because we take the average of the unit lives to derive a station end of life for depreciation, is the end-of-life assumption for Pickering B to align with these dates is Q2 2019, and the Pickering A assumption is Q2 2020.


MR. SMITH:  So just if we were -- I don't want to get into the debate about high confidence.  Maybe others will ask about that.  But if we were in the scenario of high confidence relating to Pickering continued operations, which of scenarios 1 or 1a would be applicable?


MR. REEVE:  If we were, at this point in time, having high confidence around Pickering B end of life, scenario 1a would be the scenario that we would follow.


MR. SMITH:  Then just turning to scenario 4, can you explain the difference between 4 and 4a?


MR. REEVE:  So similar to scenario 1 and 1a, we have changed the lives of -- assuming for depreciation purposes.  We had previously, in the original undertaking, addendum 1, provided depreciation, asset retirement cost impacts based on end of 2020, again to align with the continued operations assumptions in the evidence.


We have now, in scenario 4a, excuse me, modelled an end of life for Pickering B of Q2 2019.  That is the average of the four units, and for Pickering A Q2 2020.


MR. SMITH:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Reeve.


Mr. Mauti, did you make any adjustments for asset retirement obligations?


MR. MAUTI:  No, we did not.


In the calculation of asset retirement obligations and the impact of the nuclear liabilities, we always use a specific unit end-of-life date.  If you can imagine, each unit produces fuel and waste, and in the calculation of those liabilities it is always done on a unit-specific basis.


So there was no overall averaging that was done as part of the nuclear liabilities.


MR. SMITH:  My question perhaps should have been clearer, but that was in relation to the differences between 1 and 1a?


MR. MAUTI:  1 and 1a, and similarly 4 and 4a.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Those are the questions I had in chief, members of the Panel.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Mr. Shepherd, I have you first on my list.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Hello again.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I am counsel for School Energy Coalition.


Mr. Mauti, could you move your screen down?  I can't see you behind it.  If you just push it down?  Thank you.


MR. MAUTI:  Better?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So for the purposes of this cross-examination, I will be referring to Exhibit J10.11 and the two addenda, and I am also going to refer to three other documents which were sent to you earlier, some yesterday -- I think all yesterday.


The first is the long-term energy plan that was released by the government on Tuesday.


MR. MILLAR:  We will call that Exhibit K16.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K16.2:  LONG-TERM ENERGY PLAN RELEASED BY GOVERNMENT ON NOVEMBER 23, 2010.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The second is the draft supply mix directive that arises out of that plan that is currently on -- posted on the Ontario Environmental Registry as number 011-1701.


MR. MILLAR:  K16.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K16.3:  DRAFT SUPPLY MIX DIRECTIVE POSTED ON THE ONTARIO ENVIRONMENTAL REGISTRY AS NUMBER 011-1701.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Shepherd, was this provided yesterday, as well?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it was.


MR. SMITH:  Okay, thank you.


MR. MAUTI:  We don't have that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There are some extra copies here.


The third is a document entitled "Comparison of Evidence on Scenarios", which basically takes all of your scenario lists and puts them side by side.


MR. MILLAR:  K16.4.

EXHIBIT NO. K16.4:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "COMPARISON OF EVIDENCE ON SCENARIOS".


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to start just by looking at K16.2, if you don't mind.  I am not going to spend a lot of time on this.  This is not a discussion about the long-term energy plan, but I do want to ask a couple of questions.


Members of the Panel, I apologize, but when this was photocopied, the edges of the pages were lost, which I just found out this morning, and that included the page numbers.  So I believe the two pages I am going to be referring to are marked.  So I apologize for that.


OPG was involved in the development of this plan; is that right?


MR. MAUTI:  I am not familiar with exactly how, but...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you take a look at page 64, which is the third-last page?  And this is the last page I have marked, for the Panel Members.  This says here:  "Consultations and next steps."  Do you see that? 


MR. REEVE:  Yes. 


MR. MAUTI:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I right that this document is currently not yet official government policy?  It is a statement by the government, but is it not yet official government policy? 


MR. MAUTI:  I would not know. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know the answer to that? 


MR. MAUTI:  No. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Am I correct that the result of this document has been a draft supply mix directive, which is currently posted on the government's website?  Do you know the answer to that? 


MR. MAUTI:  I do not know the answer to that, no. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will -- I have some questions to skip, then. 


There is a schedule here, and that appears to say that the OPA will -- assuming the supply mix directive is approved or goes forward -- will prepare an IPSP, which will be put before this Board in the fall of next year and into 2012.


Do you see that?  "OEB review 2011, 2012"?


MR. MAUTI:  The bottom of the paragraph on the left side of the page? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, the bottom of the chart.


MR. REEVE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?  Are you familiar with that? 


MR. MAUTI:  This is the first time I have seen the document. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, really.  Okay.  Well, then I am going to ask you something else, then. 


If you could go to what is -- your copy may have page 23 on it, but it is marked for the Panel's assistance.  It is the other page that is marked. 


There is a paragraph there under the heading "The Plan" -- this is to deal with nuclear -- it says:  "Over the first 10 to 15 years of this plan".  Do you see that?


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  We see the paragraph, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what the government says here is that the plan is assuming that 10,000 megawatts of existing nuclear capacity will be refurbished in the next 10 years. 


So that would be Darlington and Bruce, right?  You are familiar with the plan that OPG is involved in to refurbish both Darlington and Bruce?  Yes? 


MR. MAUTI:  We have a plan to refurbish Darlington.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Actually you have a plan to refurbish Bruce, too, don't you?


MR. MAUTI:  OPG does not have a plan to refurbish Bruce.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I would ask you to go further in that paragraph, where it says:

“A coordinated refurbishment schedule was agreed to in 2009 by a working group including OPG, Bruce Power, the OPA and the Ministry of Energy."


That was for both Darlington and Bruce, wasn't it? 


MR. MAUTI:  That is what the paragraph indicates, but I have no involvement in or knowledge in -- in that area. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, did you do your Darlington refurbishment planning without knowing that Bruce was going to be refurbished, as well? 


MR. MAUTI:  All I'm saying is I'm not familiar with the planning exercise within OPG.  And I am not familiar with the document, which I understand was released this week.  I haven't had a chance to see it. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry.  I thought you would be able to tell us something about these various scenarios and what they mean in practice.


You are not involved in anything to do with the planning side; you just did the calculations? 


MR. MAUTI:  I am here to be able to discuss and help people understand the impact of the scenarios that we were asked of in J10.11.  The decisions and strategy and refurbishment and scheduling, I am not, no. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  This document that is referred to, the coordinated refurbishment schedule, is that in the evidence anywhere, do you know?  I am sort of asking Mr. Smith.


MR. SMITH:  It is not.


MS. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if that could be provided.


MR. SMITH:  No.  My understanding is that that document is privileged and is subject to various non-disclosure agreements between the various parties to it. 


I also -- I also have a query as to the relevance of the entire enquiry. 


I mean, this was, as I understood it, not an exercise in discussing the merits of OPG's refurbishment plan.  We had three nuclear panels who came and went and discussed that.


The undertaking arose during the finance panel, talking about a discussion about end-of-life.  So the individuals we have here are Mr. Mauti, who dealt with asset retirement liabilities, and Mr. Reeve, who was, in fact, given the undertaking during the finance panel.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, rather than argue about this right now, I am going to demonstrate in my cross, I think, why it is relevant to know whether Bruce is going to be refurbished, as well.


And maybe I can park it and ask the question again later when I have demonstrated -- when I have laid the groundwork.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thanks. 


It is true, isn't it, that OPG does not currently have a directive from the government to carry out the refurbishment of Darlington?  Is that right? 


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, was your question that the government does not are have a –- that OPG does not have a directive?


MR. SHEPHERD:  A directive.  The government has not told you to do it, have they? 


MR. SMITH:  Well, Members of the Panel, I mean, with respect, there were a number -- many, many questions asked of the witnesses about the scope of what OPG had been told about Darlington. 


It is not these witnesses' area of responsibility, and I would have thought that we're not here to address that question at this stage, again. 


MS. CHAPLIN:  I mean, I think that is correct, Mr. Shepherd.  We do have on the record the correspondence, and we have had -- I believe there is also testimony as to the nature of that correspondence.


So I think you probably have enough on the record already for that question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was only intended to be a reminder of the fact. 


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  This plan, the long-term energy plan, also includes a couple of new nuclear stations, right?  Those are not included in any of your scenarios right now?


MR. MAUTI:  That is correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you build new nuclear stations, would they have an effect on the numbers in your scenarios?  If you build them at Darlington, would they have an effect on those numbers? 


MR. MAUTI:  Eventually you would have assets as part of the construction of the facility, and if it becomes operational, you would have nuclear liabilities that would arise from those assets at some point in the future, once they're operational.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It might push the decommissioning costs off into the future, right?  For Darlington? 


MR. MAUTI:  We would be decommissioning, I believe, the new station, and it is not -- the existing Darlington station decommissioning, I don't believe would be dependent on a physically separate station being constructed at the Darlington site. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  It would only be the common -- no.  But what the government is saying is they're going to add two new units.  So it is new units to the existing station, right?  It is not a new station?


MR. MAUTI:  I believe that it is a physically separate construction.  I am not familiar how far apart, but noticeably far apart.  It is not just two additional units book-ended to the end of a Darlington station.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It would have some common elements with the existing Darlington station? 


MR. MAUTI:  I would not know.  I am not in a position to know. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  If a new station is set up that is built and its service life extends beyond 2051, am I right in understanding that all of the used fuel obligations are also pushed off? 


Right now -- right now your assumption is 2051, right, for everything?


MR. MAUTI:  2051 would be the last date that any incremental used fuel would be created that would have to be managed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  And we're going to get into this in more detail in a minute, but the result of extending Darlington is that all of the used fuel is, in fact, pushed off; you dispose of it later, right?


MR. MAUTI:  I don't believe that is correct.  The management of used fuel includes, as I have stated in the evidence, a significant amount of fixed costs and infrastructure to manage it, not on behalf of just OPG but the rest of Canada, being a joint solution, and likely that those costs and the management of the fuel would not be pushed off into the future.


As I mentioned, I would assume if a new station came in with a life past 2051, there would be incremental waste to be dealt with generated past 2051, but that may not have any bearing on the existing fuel or costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me ask you just one more question, then, about this plan.


Go back to the page I referred you to originally, page 64-65.  The page I am looking at is headed up "Installed Capacity Megawatts".  Do you see that?


MR. SMITH:  Which page?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is that one.  It is 65.


MR. MAUTI:  Appendix 3 it says, I believe.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is appendix 3, yes.


You see it says:  Nuclear 2010, 11,446 megawatts.  Do you see that?


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  2030 projected, 12,000; do you see that?


MR. MAUTI:  That's what it says, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I right in understanding that that implies that Darlington and Bruce are refurbished and Pickering is replaced by two new stations?


MR. MAUTI:  I don't know the construct of the 12,000 number, as I mentioned, so I couldn't comment on that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So am I right in understanding that you have also not seen K16.3 before; that is, the supply mix directive?


MR. REEVE:  Correct.


MR. MAUTI:  Correct as of two minutes ago, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you had no involvement in the development of the supply mix directive?


MR. MAUTI:  That would be correct.  I have never seen the document and I would not have had any involvement in it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Whether OPG did or not, you wouldn't know that?


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I am going to turn to undertaking J10.11, then.


Let's just make sure I understand what the parameters are.  The base case is Pickering A goes to Q4 2021, and Pickering B to Q4 2014?


MR. REEVE:  The base case is actually Q3 2014 for Pickering B, and Q4 for 2021 for Pickering A.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That is what is in your application; right?


MR. REEVE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is not what you expect to happen.  That is just what was in your last application; right?


MR. REEVE:  It is in our plan.  So our plan is to achieve continued operations at Pickering, but, as we've had many discussions on accounting, we're not at that position yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  For Darlington you've got Q -- actually, these units, 2051 is an average; right?


MR. REEVE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you have actually not assumed that they all end at the same time?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And did you use a simplifying assumption here in this calculation?  Did you use, like, Q2 2051 or something as the simplifying assumption, or did you actually calculate it based on the individual units?


MR. REEVE:  I believe we used Q4 2051.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then is that information in the evidence somewhere, what -- the individual unit lives?  I seem to recall something about Darlington, but that may have been in the business case.  But I don't recall whether the other ones were.


MR. REEVE:  I would have to check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, don't worry about it.  I just wondered.


So the underlying assumption in the base case is that Pickering A will continue until its originally scheduled life, but Pickering B will be closed in 2014?


MR. REEVE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  Okay.  Then scenario 1 says -- and this is what you actually -- 1 or 1a is what you currently think is going to happen?


MR. REEVE:  1a.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is Darlington still refurbished, but Pickering continued operations as implemented?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Pickering continued operations has two implications.  One is that Pickering A is actually closed earlier; right?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Pickering B is extended to 2020.  It is actually 2018 and 2020?


MR. REEVE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Part and part.


MR. REEVE:  The average is Q2 2019.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the -- am I right in understanding that the earlier closing of Pickering A means that the current revenue requirement goes up for the test period?  I am just talking conceptually now.  We are going to go into the numbers in a minute, but just conceptually, if you shorten the life, generally speaking, the current test period costs will go up; right?


MR. REEVE:  The depreciation of the non-asset retirement cost element of the station would go up if you bring the station earlier; that's correct.


But you have to look at also the impact on the waste obligations, how that is allocated across the stations, and then if that were an increase, then bringing the life back earlier would, indeed, increase the depreciation expense from that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then the other impact is that if you extend Pickering B, then that pushes off your obligation for asset retirement and it reduces your depreciation.  So, generally speaking, the extension of Pickering B should result in a reduction in revenue requirement for the current period; right?


MR. MAUTI:  Again, to reiterate, the asset retirement cost, if you push out Pickering B, the decommissioning obligation reduces as you push out the need to do that work further into the future.  But extending the life does generate more waste and nuclear fuel in the interim, which tends to have an increase in that portion of the nuclear liabilities.


It is never quite one simple direction one way or the other, and, as Mr. Reeve suggested, then we have a redistribution, reallocation of common costs depending on the overall impact of life cycle waste volumes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I will ask you a little more detailed questions about that in a minute.


Scenario 2 is the worst case.  That is where you close all of the Pickering units in 2014 and you close Darlington 2019; right?


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the units are actually not closed all at the same moment, but your assumptions are that you average them, right, when they're going to be closed?


MR. MAUTI:  For depreciation purposes, they're averaged.  As I mentioned, for the specific calculation of the waste obligations we do go unit by unit.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that has a huge increase in the current revenue requirement, because suddenly you have to deal with these asset retirement obligations a lot earlier, and you have to depreciate it faster; right?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  So what is happening is we have -- despite the reduction in asset retirement costs from Darlington being earlier, there is a very much more accelerated depreciation expense.  It is over a much shorter period.


There are also impacts on the non-ARC portion, because all of the scenarios, with the exception of Pickering B, see a shorter life and, therefore, depreciation expense increases.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  But, of course, the bigger problem is that then we're short $8,000 (sic) of generation in Ontario, and so maybe the cost is not the issue; right?  Okay.


MR. MAUTI:  I assume you mean 8,000 megawatts?  You said costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did I say dollars?


MR. MAUTI:  You said dollars.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I should have said a billion dollars.


[Laughter]


MR. SHEPHERD:  So scenario 3 is essentially similar to your application, right; that is, with the one exception that you are not refurbishing Darlington.  But, otherwise, it is your application; right?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, if you just turn to K16.4, I will get to this a bit in a minute, but you see the column in the middle that says "D2-2-1 corrected"?  That was where you calculated for the Board the impact of not refurbishing Darlington on the revenue requirement.  Do you remember that?


MR. REEVE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then that is identical to scenario 3; right?


MR. REEVE:  It is identical in the end-of-life date assumptions.


There are, as you have illustrated in your exhibit here, some additional impacts that were described in the Darlington refurbishment panel related to CWIP in rate base and OM&A expenses. 


So in our scenario 3, we have -- we have not included those.  We've just modelled the depreciation impacts, nuclear liability impacts, consequent impacts on rate base, and on taxes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But on the things that are in both of them, they're identical, right?  I am just trying to simplify here.  This is something we've already seen.


MR. REEVE:  Yes.  I mean, the only differences are CWIP in rate base and OM&A; otherwise they're identical. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  We will come back to that.


And then in scenarios 4 and 4a, you implement Pickering continued operations, but you don't implement the Darlington refurbishment, right?


MR. REEVE:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So basically, roundabout 10 years from now we have to find 10,000 megawatts of -- or 8,000 megawatts of generation, something like that. 


And as you just said, the difference between scenario 4 and 4a is the same as the difference between scenario 1 and 1a?


MR. REEVE:  That's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is just a question of more precision?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  And it is to, as I mentioned, to align with what is in the prefiled evidence for continued operations. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the reason I asked about the long-term energy plan and the draft supply mix directive is I would like you to help us with which of these scenarios is consistent with the long-term energy plan? 


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. REEVE:  So as my colleague was -- in answering your questions earlier, we have no real, detailed knowledge of the long-term energy plan.  We have only scanned the document.  So I couldn't comment whether -- or which scenario is aligned with the long-term energy plan. 


We're here to walk through the depreciation, nuclear liability impacts of the different end-of-life scenarios.  I couldn't comment on which is more in line with the long-term energy plan. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it is true, isn't it, that the long-term energy plan contemplates Darlington refurbishment?


So any of these scenarios that don't have Darlington refurbishment couldn't be consistent with the plan, could they? 


MR. REEVE:  If that is what is in the plan.  Our application assumes Darlington refurbishment. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If the long-term -- you don't know whether the long-term energy plan assumes Pickering continued operations, do you? 


MR. REEVE:  I –- I don't know. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I won't waste time, then. 


So then come back to 16.4, K16.4.  And did you have a chance to look at this before today? 


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  And I believe we had the revision that included scenarios 1a and 4a this morning, as well. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Okay. 


So subject to a few rounding things, which are very small, does this correctly set out your evidence on these scenarios?  Is it consistent with what you filed? 


MR. MAUTI:  I haven't gone back to test to make sure that you've brought the right numbers across from the different tables. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am going to assume that it is, and if you see something that doesn't look like something that you provided to the Board, please let us know. 


Line 24 is the total revenue requirement impact over the two-year test period, right? 


MR. REEVE:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And leave aside the previous stuff.


Scenario 1, then, I would understand this to be the revenue requirement would go down by $10.6 million? 


MR. MAUTI:  Under the original scenario 1, that's correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're saying that that scenario is actually incorrect, so we should not follow that. 


The correct scenario is scenario 1a, which is a revenue requirement increase of $6.7 million? 


MR. REEVE:  We believe scenario 1a better aligns with our assumptions around continued operations. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then scenario 2, for example, this is the one where everything closes as early as possible.  The revenue requirement has to go up by $558 million? 


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so on. 


Is one of these scenarios -- is one of these scenarios consistent with the assumption that nothing is changed from your previous payment applications?  That is, the service lives are all the same as your previous payment application?


Which scenario would that be? 


MR. MAUTI:  The previous payment application from 2008, is what you're talking about? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  You only had one, right? 


MR. MAUTI:  Right.  The initial one from 2008? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So if the Board wanted to identify status quo, which one would it be? 


MR. MAUTI:  Purely on the end-of-life dates, scenario 3 is reflective of the end-of-life dates that the initial payment order from 2008 was based on. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you go to page 5 of J10.11, please?  Do you have that? 


MR. MAUTI:  Yes, we have it.


MR. REEVE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just want to understand some of these.  The first one is your timing assumption, where it says:  "Approach to Calculation."  And it says you have assumed a January 1st date for the change in scenario.  I assume you did that because you already made a change January 1st, 2010 for Darlington refurbishment, so you're saying, Well, if you're going to have different scenarios, they should also be on the same date for consistency; right?


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.  That's why we picked that date.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so that means that some of the impact is actually in 2010?  The future impact of the change is going to be -- going to start in 2010, right?


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Would the impacts in the test period be different if the assumption were effective at the beginning of 2011?


MR. MAUTI:  I think the impact would be different, likely for several reasons.


You would be calculating a change in nuclear liabilities one year later.  You would have things like a different discount rate for the calculation, the asset retirement obligation, which is dependent on when you make the change.  So that would have to be assumed and estimated.


You would have a different current asset retirement obligation.  You would have more fuel and waste that's been generated, so the ARO would be higher.


There would be many changes and difficulties in trying to assess comparison, which, again, is why we picked the January 1, 2010 date.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I understand why you would pick January 1, 2010 for Darlington, because that is when you made the change, right?  So it is a toggle switch; you're switching it on and off as of the day you switched it on.


But I don't understand why you use that same date for Pickering continued operations, when that decision hasn't, in fact, been made, and we are dealing with a 2011, 2012 test period.


Why did you use January 1st, 2010 for that?  Was that just a simplifying assumption?


MR. MAUTI:  Well, perhaps to reiterate, even January 1, 2011, we wouldn't be in a different position on continued operations, as we've spoken to.


The delta changes between scenarios, especially when you look at the asset retirement obligations, which tends to be a fairly significant impact of the deltas here.


The deltas from picking a different date to assume changes would, as I am trying to allude to, throw in so many of the different changes that I am not sure how you would be able to do a delta comparison to draw any conclusions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Generally speaking, it is true that if you use a later date, the test period revenue requirement would be higher?  Generally speaking?


MR. MAUTI:  Again, given the different interplays between the calculation, I'm not sure if I can categorically say that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's -- the biggest impact here is the discounting of the future obligation, right?  If you push it out into the future, then the discounting results in the current costs going down.  That is the biggest impact in all of this, right?


MR. MAUTI:  The ARO would be higher one year later from discounting; that is one factor.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the second thing is this difference you have between using unit-level end-of-life for ARO, and station-level end-of-life for depreciation. 
I have to say - I went back in the evidence and I don't think you were questioned on this in the main part of the hearing - I don't understand that difference.


That is not new; right?  You have been doing it for a long time?


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why?


MR. MAUTI:  Are you speaking to Mr. Reeve or myself?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Unison.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. MAUTI:  I will speak to the ARO piece.  As I have tried to articulate, waste is dependent on volume.  Volume is dependent on when the unit operates and the amount of waste it generates.


Using an overall average would be imprecise.  As difficult as it is to come up with these numbers, we were trying to be as accurate as possible in terms of at least understanding when the units would be operational and the quantity of waste they would generate.  So that is why we use a unit basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why isn't that also true of depreciation?


MR. REEVE:  Depreciation, we take -- we consider each of the unit lives and just take the simple average of those unit lives.  It really doesn't yield, for depreciation expense, a different result if you do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So am I understanding, then, that whichever method you used, your results are going to be the same for both depreciation and ARO?  They will be more precise, but there won't be a material difference; is that fair?


MR. MAUTI:  I would suggest for ARO, using a simple average would probably not be appropriate.


MR. REEVE:  I think for depreciation, that is why we used the average of the unit lives.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I can't figure out that math at all.  I can't figure out why it would work one way and not the other way.  But, all right, we're going to leave that, except for one thing, and that is:  It is true that, for depreciation purposes, doesn't that have to change with IFRS?


Doesn't IFRS mean you can't use an average of the station lives?


MR. SMITH:  I don't know the answer, except that under the filing guidelines, we were -- the option to file in Canadian GAAP, and that has been done.  And as the Board will be aware, Mr. Shepherd wanted to raise an issue with respect to IFRS and future impacts relating to IFRS, and that request was denied.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The problem, Madam Chair, is that one of the things we're discussing is whether, if the rates are lower now, we're going to be faced with a big bill in a couple of years.  And if IFRS causes us to have a big bill, we should know now and the Board should know now.


So if it is not material, do you just need -- the witnesses can just tell us.  If it is material, then at least we can get a sense of directionally which way it is going and how big it is going to be.


MR. SMITH:  I guess my concern is many things may change into the future.  The Board has already indicated itself that it will push off, at least for a period of a year, the implementation of IFRS, and full implementation of IFRS for regulated entities is still not a certainty.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Just a minute.


[Board Panel confer]


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  The Panel certainly is not interested in an extensive enquiry into IFRS.  However, it does seem to be a very specific question as to whether the witness is aware of what the requirement would be under IFRS.


So if the witness does know the answer, we would like that.  And if he doesn't, then he should tell us that, as well.


MR. REEVE:  I didn't come prepared to talk about IFRS, I must admit, this morning.  I am aware that there is a level of componentization that is required under IFRS, so it is perhaps not just at the unit level, but at the individual asset group level that that consideration needs to be made.  So you could reach the same conclusion under IFRS.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you think you are going to get to the same number under IFRS, but just with a more precise calculation?


MR. REEVE:  That is what I said.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  Thank you.  The next area -- next area of assumptions is nuclear waste.


Basically, for these scenarios, you have assumed that all of your current nuclear waste activities are unchanged; right?  You're not doing anything differently?


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that includes things like the shipping the used fuel and the low and intermediate waste, all of that stuff; right?


MR. MAUTI:  Especially during the 2011-2012 test period, with our assumption of no change in any of the base line operations and costs, the amount of waste generated, and whatnot, during that period is assumed to be constant.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, is that a simplifying assumption or is that actually true?  Like, I would have thought that if you are refurbishing Darlington, some things are going to change, or not.  If you're refurbishing, or not, some things are going to change?


MR. MAUTI:  The refurbishment of Darlington is part of our system plan in terms of the activities that are ongoing over the 2011-2012 time frame, including the work on continued operations, maintenance and inspection activities and Darlington refurbishment.  Any waste that is generated as part of those activities is already captured as part of that system plan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the question is:  In the other scenarios, would that be different?


MR. MAUTI:  The assumption we would continue with the refurbishment activities and the continued operation activities, that would be the volume of waste that we would be generating.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Three of these scenarios assume no refurbishment.


Have you assumed that you will continue with the refurbishment activities?


MR. MAUTI:  Again, perhaps you will get to this on page 6 of 6, the last bullet on other elements of the revenue requirement, production forecasts and variance accounts.  It does state that:

"With the exception of the programs related to the nuclear waste management and decommissioning obligations and depreciation end-of-life assumptions for the prescribed nuclear assets, all programs, expenditures, nuclear production levels, variance and deferral account balances, and accounting and regulatory treatments are as proposed in OPG's Application."


So we have not altered any of those.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But they will be affected by whether you refurbish and whether you do continued operations; right?


MR. MAUTI:  The volume of waste generated?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, you took me to the next page.  So I am saying, okay, we'll talk about the next page.  I was going to do it in a minute, but that's fine.


So all of those things you just listed, those will actually change if you don't do the refurbishment and if you don't pursue continued operations; isn't that true?


MR. MAUTI:  If we actually did not refurbish and did not do the activities for continued operations, those would change, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But you haven't included any of those changes in these scenarios?


MR. MAUTI:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Back to the previous page, you have cost estimates for the programs.  You have said the base line cost estimates.  That's the assumptions you made of what it is going to actually cost in the future to do this stuff; right?   That hasn't changed?


MR. MAUTI:  That's right.  That has not changed.  We don't have any updated information.  What exists as part of the reference plan is our base line and best estimates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Except for the fact there is more waste, there is no reason to think those base line costs will change; right?


MR. MAUTI:  We have no basis to change them, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In calculating the ARO, you have kept the escalation rate the same.  What is the escalation rate again?


MR. MAUTI:  As part of a calculation of the asset retirement obligation, which is a present value concept, we would take the cost estimates to execute these programs, which are all stated in constant, in this case, 2007 dollars.  We would have to escalate them into the future when we thought those programs would be executed, and then discount them back to come up with the present value asset retirement obligation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  So you have this base line cost estimates and you say, Okay, that is the 2007 number.


Then you say, Now we're going to actually have to spend that money in 2081, and so we have to escalate it to 2081 dollars to figure out what we're really going to spend.  Right?  That is the escalation rate?


MR. MAUTI:  In 2081 dollars, and then the asset retirement obligation today that we put on our financial statements is the present value in today's dollars.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  What is the escalation rate?  It is 2 percent?


MR. MAUTI:  There is a variety of escalation rates we have, dependent on the types of expenditures.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is that whole table, okay.  All right.  But you did change the discount rate?


MR. MAUTI:  The discount rate that you use for the different changes in asset retirement obligations require us to use, prescribed from the CICA requirements, a discount rate in effect at the time that you're making a change.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what was the change in the discount rate?  From what to what?


MR. MAUTI:  The January 1, 2010 discount rate in effect at that time was 4.8 percent, I believe.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What was the old one?


MR. MAUTI:  The old one would be based on the different tranches of liability as it had been calculated over time.  So there was an original one from '99 to 2003 slice, a 2007 slice.  I believe the weighted average of those was 5.6 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you reduce the discount rate, that increases the present cost, right? 


MR. MAUTI:  Of the delta change in that asset retirement obligation.  You're discounting the change in the ARO.  You are not re-evaluating the entire ARO. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you have to spend $10 billion in 2081, and you discount that at either 4.8 percent or 5.6 percent, if you discount it at a higher rate, the current discounted value is lower; true? 


MR. MAUTI:  True.  But that is not how the asset retirement -- it is not a simple one discount rate calculation of all future streams.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So help me with that.


MR. MAUTI:  I believe there was another undertaking on the impact of the $1.1-billion increase in the used fuel disposal costs for Darlington.  And I believe there was a series of schedules with different cash flows and different impacts of the cash flows of the different discount rates.  It was about a 25-page submission. 


That demonstrates the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  We don't need to go through that.  Please.  Please. 


MR. SMITH:  These things are tough. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  But can you give us a simple explanation of how this -- how this differs from simply discounting a future cost?


MR. MAUTI:  Well, let's go back to our base evidence we submitted for Darlington refurbishment.


The ARO impact using a 4.8 discount rate for that delta change in the ARO resulted in the $293 million increase in the asset retirement obligation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  True.


MR. MAUTI:  We don't revalue the entire $12 billion at 4.8 percent.  We are just looking at the change, the delta change =n the asset retirement obligation, and that one gets a discount rate that is in effect at the time you make the change.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  And that -– and it is true that for that one, if you use a lower discount rate, you have a higher number now?


MR. MAUTI:  As opposed to using the historical or the other average? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. MAUTI:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. 


MR. MAUTI:  But as I said the, the requirement as to which discount rate to use is prescribed from the CICA. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And then on the next page, you said the individual asset class lives are unchanged for depreciation purposes.  You are changing the amount of depreciation, right?  So you are changing the assumption of lives for particular assets?


MR. REEVE:  So what this reflects is the -- if we were to break the units down into all of the individual components that make up that unit, we did have a look to see whether that would have a significant impact.  It wouldn't.  So therefore, we have just changed the end-of-life dates for the different units to derive these scenarios.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is a simplifying assumption, but it is a simplifying assumption done after you tested to see whether there would be a material impact?  And found that there wasn't? 


MR. REEVE:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the last one, we have already started to talk about, and that is that you have only dealt with depreciation and ARO in rate base implications.


There are other material cost implications of these scenarios, right?  In the test period? 


MR. REEVE:  This undertaking came up in the context of a discussion we were having at the finance panel -- I was on that panel -- around the impact of end-of-life dates on depreciation.


It then got expanded through discussion with the Board counsel to revenue requirement impacts.


So what we have done and what we are here to discuss is the impact of end-of-life dates on depreciation, the knock-on impacts on asset retirement cost, nuclear liabilities and consequential tax impacts.


And that is what we have reflected in the undertaking. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But it was actually a simpler question.  I understand that, but it was a simpler question than that.


There are other impacts, and they're material; true?


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. MAUTI:  There would be, I guess, other implications, if one of these scenarios was assumed to be used for setting of rates, as an example, and some of those changes would be material. 


In evidence, we have identified $90 million or so for Pickering B continued operations expenditures during the test period.  So we would have to consider, as part of a final calculation, those costs. 


If you consider that material, then I suppose that would be material changes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So can you go back to K16.4?  This is our comparison stuff.


You see line 24 is your numbers from the various scenarios.  But then we have taken the OM&A and the CWIP for Darlington, and we've adjusted for that. 


Is that a reasonable thing to do, in the no-refurbishment scenario?  Is it reasonable to say, Well, you have to adjust for CWIP and OM&A?


MR. REEVE:  In the -- the line 24 is what we have described in the undertakings.  To answer your question, no, I don't think it is reasonable. 


These are quite separate considerations.  There was extensive discussion on these matters as part of the Darlington refurbishment panel, as to our pursuit of CWIP in rate base and some of the OM&A expenses that we would incur during the test period. 


So I don't know that that is a reasonable assumption to make. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So let me ask you, then, it is true, isn't it, that you would -- in scenarios 2, 3, and 4, you would not incur the Darlington refurbishment project OM&A, would you?  If this Board decided those are the scenarios we're using, then you would not incur that OM&A, right?


MR. SMITH:  That proposition is not correct. 


The – and it -- perhaps it is important to identify this difference.  This schedule and the undertaking identifies the financial impacts of choosing different end-of-life dates.


It does not separately and should not be taken as the last word on whether or not Darlington refurbishment costs are incurred, or whether those costs -- or whether Pickering continued ops is prudent. 


So for example, you could envision a situation -- obviously this isn't OPG's application -- but if you were minded to say, Well, we think that the end-of-life date should be 2019 for Darlington, that is not the same as saying but OPG isn't going to spend money on Darlington, and we don't think CWIP in rate base should be included.


That is an important distinction, and thus, this premise of Mr. Shepherd's question is not correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That wasn't intended to be the premise.  I probably worded it badly. 


There are three possibilities, right?  Possibility number one, you refurbish Darlington.  Possibility number 2, you don't refurbish Darlington.  Possibility number 3, for ratemaking purposes, the assumption isn't built in yet that you are going to refurbish it, but you continue to do the work, right?  There are three possibilities?


MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, Mr. Shepherd.  Just to be clear about the point, the evidence is that OPG is going to refurbish Darlington. 


The scenarios assume Darlington refurbishment goes ahead.


What has been changed is the end-of-life date, the depreciation impact, and the knock-on effects of that. 


As Mr. Reeve indicated, there hasn't been a change beyond that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the scenarios that have Darlington end-of-life as 2019 still assume Darlington refurbishment? 


MR. MAUTI:  I think we said this a few times.  The scenarios are modelling the depreciation impact from a variety of end-of-life dates.  Nuclear waste obligations have a larger role to play in that depreciation and the tax impact.


That is what we have modelled in the scenarios; that is all the intent of the undertaking was. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this Board, in making its decision, can't assume when it is making that decision that if it prefers one or the other of these scenarios, that it knows what the revenue requirement impact is, because you haven't told it what the revenue requirement impact is, have you? 


MR. SMITH:  Well, I disagree with that. 


We have answered the undertaking in the normal course.  If there are other disallowances, for example, if you were to disallow costs relating to -- if the Board were to disallow costs in relation to Pickering continued operations, there would be a draft rate order that would need to be prepared that would provide OPG's position with respect to the information contained in the Board's decision.  There would be a period of comment and ultimate decision from the Board on the matter.


Certainly OPG's position is, I think you can take it that the information is, directionally, there will be these changes arising from the various scenarios, but there are, as indicated on page 6 of 6, other costs that would be affected if the underlying activity were not undertaken.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I wonder if you could turn to page 3 of this undertaking.


MR. SMITH:  Just by way of example, scenario 2, for example, has an end-of-life date for Pickering of 2014.  There are costs associated with Pickering continued operations which are in the application and which are reflected in that scenario.  They would have to be removed if the Board's decision were:  No costs relating to Pickering continued operations are permitted.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  If you can take a look at page 3, and you will see in the fourth bullet -- do you have that?  I think this is you, Mr. Reeve.  Do you have that?


MR. REEVE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the fourth bullet says that -- I think it says - and tell me whether this is right - that in doing these scenarios, you haven't considered whether some of the expenditures that you have allocated as either capital or OM&A in the test period have to change?


MR. REEVE:  What this fourth bullet point is saying is there is a link between the decision to capitalize expenditures and the decision to extend life for depreciation purposes.


Consequently, were we to have an assumption of not refurbishing Darlington, and therefore the end of life were at 2019, then the expenditures that we are currently capitalizing would likely be OM&A.  They wouldn't meet the definition of capital, because one of the fundamental considerations is whether you extend the life as a result of that expenditure.


Conversely, for Pickering B, the expenditures that we are incurring in the test period are more inspection, maintenance, discovery-type work, which does not meet the capitalization criteria and consequently couldn't be capitalized.


So if you were to have a scenario where you have an end-of-life date for the continuing operation scenario, you still couldn't actually capitalize those expenditures because of their nature.  They're inspection.  They just don't qualify for capital treatment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the Darlington capitalized costs, that's not the 10.4 million?  That is something else?  It is not the 10.4 million we were just talking about?


MR. REEVE:  The 10.4 million I believe is the OM&A expenditure during the test period.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the stuff that even with the decision to refurbish --


MR. REEVE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- it is still OM&A; right?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There is another some hundreds of millions of dollars that you're planning to spend in the test period that you're capitalizing?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying that would have to be OM&A if you didn't proceed with the refurbishment?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So these impacts here - for example, scenario 3, which says $197 million - you would have to actually add some more to that for all of these costs; right?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  And, as we said earlier, we haven't modelled all of those impacts.  We have just captured the depreciation expense and knock-on impacts on rate base and tax.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that addition to that $197 million could be hundreds of millions of dollars?


MR. REEVE:  I don't recall the exact amount of capital during the test period, but I think it was in that order of magnitude.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I just have -- I am not going to go through all the details of the scenarios, because we don't have all day, but I do want to go through one table to make sure I understand how these things interact.


To do that, I wonder if you could look at -- let's talk about -- conceptually, what you did is step 1 is you went back to January 1st, 2010 and you said, Instead of making the assumption that Darlington would be refurbished, you make the assumptions in one of these scenarios, refurbishment and continued operations, or no refurbishment, et cetera?


MR. REEVE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You make those assumptions on January 1st, 2010, and then you see -- you do the math to see what flows from that; right?


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So can you look at scenario 1, table 5?  This is attachment 1, table 5 in J10.11.


MR. REEVE:  I have that, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am just going to use this as an example to understand how this works.


This is your hypothetical adjustment of ARO and ARC as of January 1st, 2010, as it is allocated to the stations; right?


MR. MAUTI:  That is correct, by program level and allocated to stations for the scenario 1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So in actual fact, on January 1st, 2010, you did something exactly like this with the assumption that you would refurbish Darlington; right?


MR. MAUTI:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is in the evidence?


MR. MAUTI:  There is a similar table, table 3 in C2-1-2, that did this allocation by program and across stations, as well, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And this one, though, is assuming you were going to refurbish Darlington, plus you are going to do Pickering continued operations?


MR. MAUTI:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This table 5, although it is under attachment 1, it is the same table for attachment 1a; right?


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  I believe the addendum 2 filed yesterday has a similar table -- actually, no.  As I mentioned, the asset retirement obligation does not change under 1 or 1a, so there is no need to refile these tables.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  That's why I picked it.


So table 5 is a point-in-time change as opposed to the other tables that are period calculations; right?


They look at the impact on a period.  This is actually a point-in-time calculation; right?


MR. MAUTI:  Right.  It is the point in time that would generate a net change in the asset retirement cost as it relates to depreciation, and the other tables take that impact and the impact of that over time is used.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful, okay.  So let's look at line 4, because that is probably the most interesting.


So used fuel disposal.  Tell me whether this is true.  There are three things happening here.  First, the total amount of fuel to be disposed of has to increase, because Darlington runs 30 years longer.  Second, the total amount of fuel to be disposed of has to increase, because Pickering runs longer.  Third, the point in time in which you had to dispose of all of this fuel is pushed back 30 years.  Is that right?


MR. MAUTI:  It is the third assumption that I don't believe is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So correct me, then.  What is the correct assumption?


MR. MAUTI:  All right.  As I mentioned, the used fuel disposal program has a significant amount of fixed costs.  And for fixed costs, as an example, would use -- the current assumption is that there would be a deep geological repository to store used fuel available in the 2035 time period.  All of the costs related to the upfront work, technical, siting, community, construction and future operations of that facility would all be identical, even with these revised scenarios.


What may change is the back-end total amount of fuel that would have to be processed through that facility.  The facility may have to be in operation, hypothetically, an extra couple of years to be able to handle the incremental fuel.


So that piece of it would be incremental, but the lion's share of those program costs would be incurred regardless.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then help me with what is the reduction in costs here.  There are some big reductions in costs here.  Why is that?


MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  Back in the original hearing and in the evidence in C2, tab 1, schedule 2, on page 3, just for everyone's reference, it goes into a discussion of the various waste programs.


The waste programs that tend to have a significant amount of shared costs or central costs, those costs get allocated to the individual stations.  They get allocated, in effect, based on the estimate of the life cycle, volume of waste each of these stations would generate.


So as you are changing station lives, increasing or decreasing, the total quantum of waste from that station would go up or down.


We use that change in the life cycle changes after making all of those changes to determine the percentage allocation of these central costs to each station.


So you can have one station which doesn't change at all, but because you have an increase in one of the operations - let's use Darlington as a good example, extending its life for those four units and the quantity of waste it produces - it will attract more of those central fixed costs, and other stations would get proportionally less, which is why you see the reductions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is simply economies of scale.  Your unit costs go down because you have more units and you have high fixed costs?


MR. MAUTI:  I sort of view it as you have a pie, and you are just figuring out the distribution of the pie based on the amount of waste coming from each station.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So -- I understand that. 


So for example, you have -– like, Darlington has a billion dollar increase in its provision for used fuel.


And that is actually made up of two components, right? 


One is that it is going to be using a lot more fuel, and the other is that the unit costs, the cost of disposing of each unit of fuel is going to go down, because you have more of them to dispose of; true?  Their allocation of the fixed costs goes down?


MR. MAUTI:  If by unit cost, you're assuming the fixed portion in that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  We continue the unit cost to be the variable cost, not including the fixed portion.  That in principle would stay the same, because it is true incremental cost per each individual fuel bundle. 


So that wouldn't determine the change in the current asset retirement obligations, since it's only dealing with the fuel that exists currently, and we use a forecast of the future, again, to split that pie up. 


But it doesn't necessarily drive an increase in the total ARO. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this billion dollar -- billion and 83 increase for Darlington is really a billion-two or a billion-three increase in fuel, but then a lower allocation of the fixed costs, which offsets it.  Is that right?


MR. MAUTI:  No.  Actually, it is really – the distribution of the fixed costs is a larger driver of the 1.1 billion. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have to distribute more of the fixed costs to Darlington? 


MR. MAUTI:  Because with 30 extra years of operations, it will have more fuel bundles at the end of its life in proportion to the other stations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I see.  Okay. 


So -- and whereas Pickering A, for example, which you are not proposing any change for in this scenario -- the -- well, actually a slight change, but not a big one -- it saves because it doesn't have to bear as much of the fixed costs?


MR. MAUTI:  That's right.  The distribution of those fixed central costs is proportionally less for Pickering A, as well as the Bruce stations. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And for Pickering B, it is going to have some more fuel because you are running it longer, but on the other hand it bears less of the fixed costs, so that balances out most of the additional cost?


MR. MAUTI:  That is why the Pickering B change is relatively small compared to the other stations, because it has the more waste coming forward to mitigate most of that redistribution.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And this scenario assumes that Bruce A and B are unchanged, right? 


MR. MAUTI:  Unchanged from our filing, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if they're refurbished too, and so their fuel cost goes up, then that will reduce the allocation to the prescribed facilities, won't it? 


MR. MAUTI:  Holding all else constant, we would have to redo the same calculation that we just did and model what that would be, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So we will get a similar drop?  Like, Pickering A, for example, will drop another couple of million –- couple of hundred million dollars?


MR. MAUTI:  If you are asking in the modelling of one station increases and life, what's the -- holding all else constant, the impact on the other stations would be a reduction, yes, because it would pick up more of a proportionate share.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Orders of magnitude, we're talking about this sort of size, Darlington sort of size, right?  Maybe somewhat smaller, but not a lot?


MR. MAUTI:  The used fuel disposal program is one of the larger ones in total size, so that tends to drive large changes, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, not the question I'm asking.


The question I am asking is:  If we included in these assumptions Bruce being refurbished, am I right that there would be a material drop in the -- material negative here for Pickering A and B and Darlington?  A big number drop? 


MR. MAUTI:  If we were at the stage of being able to do that and have the evidence to do that, then increasing Bruce lives would have a material reduction in prescribed facilities, asset retirement costs, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Just let me finish that part.


These reductions here in the Bruce point-in-time estimate, they, then, carry through.  This is the reason why you show savings on Bruce in your revenue requirement impacts, right?  Because they affect the extent to which the net Bruce profit is -- reduces or increases rates, right? 


MR. REEVE:  So if you go back to, I think, what you are describing, and we take attachment 1, if we carry on with that and look at table 1, you are looking at the lines 15 through 23.


So just to draw the distinction here between Bruce and the prescribed facilities, Bruce is not a prescribed facility.  So the calculation is a difference.  It needs to be in accordance with GAAP.  That was a previous decision, as it relates to Bruce.


So what we're doing here is really simulating what the impacts would be on Bruce, and those impacts are driven by the change in the asset retirement costs relative to the base scenario. 


So actually what is happening here is the asset retirement adjustment, the asset retirement cost reduction is smaller than what it was in the base case, and therefore there was a further reduction in depreciation. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 


MR. REEVE:  And similarly for accretion expenses, a smaller reduction in the asset retirement obligation related to the Bruce facility.  So consequently, there is a reduction in accretion expense.


All that being said, Bruce is still in accordance with GAAP.  So this is just reflecting, if you took an assumption for the prescribed, here is what the knock-on impact would be for Bruce.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Don't let me forget to come back to that. 


[Laughter.]


Mr. SMITH:  You can count on me.


[Laughter.] 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you go to scenario 3, to table 1?


MR. MAUTI:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is one in which you don't refurbish Darlington, so relative to your application, it shows that the revenue requirement related to Bruce goes up by $54 million. 


So are you telling us that that is a correct number, or not a correct number?  What are you telling us?


MR. REEVE:  So what I'm saying is the calculation of Bruce is in accordance with GAAP.  We just, in responding to the undertaking, have identified what the impact would be on Bruce of changing the end-of-life assumption.


So just to address your question, in terms of the numeric impact here, what is happening is in the original base case reduction, there was -- in the original base case, there was a reduction in the asset retirement cost.  We are not reflecting it in scenario 3, and therefore if there is no reduction, it means depreciation expense is higher.


Similarly, for the asset retirement obligation --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Let me just stop you.


Do I understand that that is because Bruce, then, has to bear a higher percentage of the -- not a higher percentage, a higher amount of fixed costs because you don't have the volumes from the Darlington refurbishment, right?  It is the same thing as you were just saying?


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.  Darlington, when you made that change, naturally attracted more of the fixed costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  Go on.


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  So the depreciation impact there for -- because the asset retirement cost, there isn't a reduction in this scenario compared to what was filed.  So depreciation expense is higher.  The balance is higher. 


Similarly, the asset retirement obligation is higher under scenario 3 compared to what was filed, and therefore the accretion expense -- which is just based on the asset retirement obligation -- is also higher.


But again, to answer your question on the GAAP basis for Bruce, so the revenue requirement for Bruce has to be in accordance with GAAP.  That is what was outlined in the previous decision.


So when we submitted our application, the numbers provided in that application for Bruce are the correct impacts.


By changing, for example -- and this one, it is easier to see because it is just a change in Darlington -- Pickering A and B stay the same as what is in our application.  What we're saying is this is the Bruce impact were we to change the date, but we can't actually reflect that, because Bruce must align with GAAP.  For GAAP accounting, we have to show 2051 for depreciation purposes for Darlington.  And then it is that impact that we need to model through accretion expense, depreciation expense, tax, for the Bruce impacts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So there is two parts to this question, then. 


The first part is you're saying for GAAP accounting you're required to assume that you are going to refurbish Darlington anyway, no matter what this Board says.


So this 54 million would not be an impact in the current revenue requirement of this Board saying, Let's assume you are not going to do --


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  I mean, there's been extensive discussion around Darlington and why we believe it is appropriate in our application to refurbish Darlington.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But if this Board said it is premature, right - we don't want to assume that right now - then the correct number in scenario 3 is $191 million, not that additional $54.4 million; right?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct, because we follow GAAP for -- that's what's in our application.  That was the basis for our application.  Bruce is in accordance with GAAP.  So we would have to follow the 2051 date, because that is what we're required to do for GAAP purposes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if you -- is there also a difference in calculation -- like, let's just say for GAAP purposes you changed the assumption for Darlington back to 2019.  All right?


Would that $54.4 million be the GAAP result, or would it be a different number?


MR. REEVE:  If we were to not have high confidence -- you probably remember the discussion around confidence levels?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. REEVE:  If we were to not have high confidence around Darlington refurbishment and believe that the appropriate date for GAAP depreciation purposes were 

2019 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. REEVE:  -- then that's correct.  The number would be 54.4 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Wonderful.  Okay.


Madam Chair, I have about ten minutes.  Do you want me to go to the break?


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  Why don't you complete?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let's come back to that table 5 and scenario 1, again, please, because again I am just trying to understand how this flows through, and we have looked at used fuel disposal.


But it is true, isn't it, that that pattern of ups and downs and sharing doesn't apply to the other lines, does it?


MR. MAUTI:  The same principle of allocation of fixed costs underlies the ones with the central programs, but there are often times other things happening as we looked at the estimates going forward for each of those programs.


So the principle applies to all, but it may not be as obvious, because there could be other factors, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  For example, line 1, decommissioning program, decommissioning costs are associated with a particular station; right?  So if you extend a station, then that changes your decommissioning costs?


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.  And decommissioning program has very minimal sort of programmatic costs that are fixed or shared.  They tend to be station specific, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, Darlington you save half-a-billion dollars by decommissioning it later.  That is a time value of money issue; right?


MR. MAUTI:  That is purely the present value being pushed out, the same base line cost estimate being pushed out 30 years into the future, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Whereas Pickering A in this scenario, Pickering A is accelerated slightly so it costs more, again, because of discount rate?


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.  That is the general direction for these.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then these changes to Bruce A and B, these are rounding errors?


MR. MAUTI:  No.  They're decommissioning efforts that are going on right now in terms of studies or investigations, so it is very minor centralized costs that gets allocated.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the last part of this I want to look at -- no, actually, there are two more.  One is line 5.  I just have to find my note here.


You have an increase in used fuel storage in this scenario for everything -- everybody except Pickering A.  The reason for that is that the fuel has to be stored longer, or what is the reason for that?


MR. MAUTI:  There are a couple of factors with the used fuel storage program.  In general, the longer asset lives that you see for Pickering B and Darlington tend to generate the increases.


You do have slightly less waste from Pickering A, as well, driving a decrease.  The complicating factor with the used fuel storage program is especially at Pickering, because it is one geographic facility.  The storage program applies to both stations.  There is some sharing of costs and allocation of costs that has to be done.


To complicate it further, there is the wet bays that exist within the stations that get allocated costs depending on whether a station is operational or not with both of them, and under this scenario being extended to 2020, you have, you know, less costs going to operations from one of them.


So there is a lot of allocation issues within the used fuel storage program in terms of how it is that the costs work and they flow between stations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My last question on this is you have a line "Reallocation of Negative Net Book Value".


Frankly, I looked at the footnote and I still don't understand it.  Can you help?


MR. REEVE:  Absolutely.  So consistent with the scenario that we had in the application, we had a similar reallocation of net book value.


In essence, what is happening here is the ARO adjustment which we ordinarily, for accounting, translate into an adjustment to the fixed asset balance - that is the other side of the entry, if you will, for accounting - results in our negative net book value for the Bruce B station.


We can't have a negative net book value on our books, because we consider the obligation -- as my colleague was talking about, certain of the programs are station specific; certain of them are shared.  So to us, it would not be appropriate for GAAP to have a negative net book value for one of the stations, which would be equivalent to a charge to expense.


So what we've done, therefore, in accordance with GAAP, is reallocate that reduction to, in effect, bring the Bruce B station to a net book value of zero.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. REEVE:  Then allocate across the other stations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How did Bruce B end up with a negative net book value?  Isn't the asset retirement cost included in its book value?


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  The asset retirement cost is, as well as the cost for what, in turn, let me call the bricks and mortar, the actual costs of the facility itself that we have.


You will notice Bruce B as part of this exercise has an adjustment in ARC on line 6 for Bruce B of a $125 million reduction.


So if you look at the existing value of the asset retirement cost and the value of the bricks and mortar that have been depreciated down to a current net book value, that current net book value is less than $125 million, such that when you apply the reduction, you take the full value of the station into negative position.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, the net book value before this is $81 million; right?


MR. MAUTI:  It would be 81, which is why the redistribution of the additional $44.5 million you see on line 7 brings it down to that $81 million adjustment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this calculation shows that Bruce B - which is still going to run for a number of years, and then still has to be decommissioned and its fuel disposed of - has zero cost in your books?  After all of this is done, it has zero costs?


MR. MAUTI:  It would be zero net book value on the Bruce B plant.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How could that be?  Depreciation is supposed to allocate the costs reasonably over its life.  It still has a lot of life left.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. MAUTI:  A couple of factors go into this.


With the leasing of the Bruce assets in 2001, OPG has not been adding additional bricks and mortar, for lack of a better word, onto the value of the Bruce B station.


We continue to depreciate that.  It's being depreciated to, I believe, roughly 2014 average life date.  There hasn't been a decision on refurbishment.


So as it gets depreciated down, there is fewer years remaining, you end up with a smaller and smaller net book value as you get closer to that end of life, such that that $125 million adjustment is large in comparison to the remaining book value.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you extended the lease to 2027, but you haven't yet reflected that in any of your calculations of depreciation or book value or anything else?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. REEVE:  We have had a discussion on the -- I believe it was the finance panel -- around the impacts on the Bruce lease.


I believe -- I didn't come prepared to talk about the Bruce lease, but I think the impact was more tied to the Bruce A, rather than Bruce B units.  That's my recollection.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are our questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  We will -- thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  We will take the morning break for 15 minutes.  And on my list I have Mr. Poch as being next.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:26 a.m.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated. 


Mr. Poch, whenever you are ready. 


MR. POCH:  Thank you.  I understand my friend has a procedural matter first. 


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

Procedural Matters:


MR. DeROSE:  It could have waited, but...


Madam Chair, Mr. Warren has this morning gotten a hold of me and asked that I just put one issue on the record.  He is going to be writing to the Board to elaborate on the issue, but he asked that I just raise this issue before you, and it is this, that at page 5 of OPG's argument-in-chief, the company asserts that it would be a legal error to reduce payment amounts to account for external factors. 


But they -– but OPG does not elaborate on that allegation or the position that they take on that.  They don't provide legal case law to support it. 


Mr. Warren has raised the issue, and as I understand it, will be raising the issue further in a letter, that to make that allegation but not support it with the legal basis upon which you make the allegation is really splitting your case, that it is waiting for reply to come out and actually set out your argument, and that it would be, as I understand it, Mr. Warren -- to be honest, I don't have instructions, but I suspect that we would likely support him in this -- as I understand it, will be asking the Board to consider whether it is appropriate to direct OPG to expand on that allegation so that they are not splitting their case in reply.


So I don't want you to consider this as a submission at this time for you to -- I am not asking for a determination on the issue, but we thought that it would be appropriate just to let you know more as a heads-up that Mr. Warren will be writing in this regard. 


MR. SMITH:  If I may, I will just respond to it and I may be able to pre-empt Mr. Warren's response.


Perhaps we ought to have cross-referenced it, but at page 64 of OPG's argument-in-chief, section 8.2 deals with the fair-return standard.  The case law in support of the fair-return standard is cited there.  It is also cited extensively in the Board's cost-of-capital Report, which is similarly referenced in our argument.


The support for the proposition set out at page 5, OPG's position would be is found in that section. 


So Mr. Warren has ample notice of the legal support for the position that has been advanced in the argument-in-chief.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Perhaps we could make sure that -- or I could ask you to make sure Mr. Warren has the benefit of what Mr. Smith has said.


MR. DeROSE:  I will let Mr. Warren know what has been said, and I am sure it will be discussed further and you may or may not hear from us further.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.


Mr. Poch, whenever you are ready. 


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Panel, Mr. Shepherd took you to this document, the long-term energy plan and so on.


Can we just be clear, I take it that that has -- it is not a rationale justification or in any way relied upon by OPG for the positions being brought forward to the Board in this case, on ARO, ARC, depreciation, or what have you? 


MR. REEVE:  No.  That's correct. 


MR. POCH:  Indeed, maybe you could --


Mr. SMITH:  I'm sorry, Mr. Poch.  That is -- if the proposition is that the document cannot be relied upon in argument in any respect, I don't agree with that. 


What I attempted to make clear and I believe the witnesses made clear earlier was that they're not familiar with the document and had no input into it whatsoever.  That is a different question. 


MR. POCH:  I will ask you this, then. 


For example, the document, Mr. Shepherd took you to a summary page at the end where it showed 10,000 megawatts of refurbished nuclear in addition to 2,000 of new nuclear. 


Can you tell me what possibly could add up to 10,000 megawatts between Bruce and Darlington?


MR. MAUTI:  I don't have the capacities off the top of my head for what the size of the units are. 


MR. POCH:  But they're all under a thousand megawatts?


MR. MAUTI:  Yes, they are.


MR. POCH:  And there are only 10 of them. 


MR. MAUTI:  There are only 10 that OPG is operating.


Which stations are you referring to, again?  The entire nuclear fleet or...


MR. POCH:  The -- well, all right.  Let's not debate this. The short answer is you don't know where the number comes from.  That's fine. 


If the long-term energy plan was, on its face, just to come to fruition -- I think Mr. Shepherd took you to this already -- would you agree all kinds of numbers in your plan would change, because Bruce life would change, because there would be new nuclear that would change the number of fuel bundles and the end date, or the closure date for waste facilities and so on?  Correct? 


MR. MAUTI:  As each of the components of an energy plan may come into fruition, again, based on the evidence at that time, it may lead us to revisit the obligations for nuclear waste.


MR. POCH:  And I am just saying if the components that are listed in that long-term energy plan, as it stands today, were all to come to fruition, there would be massive changes in these numbers we've seen, would there not?


For example, for the Bruce numbers, for the allocation of the waste -- fixed costs of the waste facilities amongst the different plants, because those Bruce facilities, six Bruce facilities refurbished would have -- be producing a lot more power and be attributed with a lot more of that cost because they would be producing those used fuel bundles; correct?


MR. MAUTI:  As I indicated to Mr. Shepherd, any change in an end-of-life assumption or operating assumption or amount of waste or fuel to be generated from any station changes, it has an impact on reallocation and redistribution across the entire fleet, yes. 


MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, I would just ask you if you wouldn't mind pulling out Undertaking J11.5.  I just wanted to understand its relationship to the numbers you have placed before us in response to J10.11. 


MR. MAUTI:  We have that, yes.


MR. POCH:  Do I understand correctly that J11.5 and the number that it provides at the bottom of its table 1 on attachment 1 of the response -- that is, negative 137.9 million -- is -- that's the change in the 2010, the current year budget that results from this assumption of life extension of Darlington?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct. 


MR. POCH:  All right.  So if this Board is to accept - were to accept your 2051, date as opposed to the 2019 date, am I correct, then, that the effect is that in the current year, 2010, the shareholder will be better off by $137.9 million?  And that subsequently ratepayers in future years will make that up?  Because the shareholder -- in 2010 rates are already set.  You are going to make -- spend less on these allocations for fuel management, used fuel management and so on, but that ultimately, of course, that will have to get picked up somewhere in the future?


MR. REEVE:  What the undertaking describes is the impact on 2010 of Darlington refurbishment. 


The reason I am hesitating, I am not an expert on variance accounts.  It is just what the impact would be on the Bruce variance accounts and other variance accounts that we have, and what the consequent impact would be. 


I just -- I don't recall whether that was captured in this undertaking. 


MR. POCH:  All right.  Okay.  Now, in the materials you have provided to us in the last few days, I just wanted to make sure I understood how -- or what the implications of that comment on page 6 of the response are.


And that is, if I look at the bottom line, if I take, for example, scenario -- let's take 4a, and if we go to -- 4a, if we go to -- it is table 1, the 242.5 is the change from the base case, your filing, if we change -- if we accept the dates -- if the Board were to utilize the dates in 4a, but that assumes that CWIP is still in the case; correct?


MR. REEVE:  CWIP is not identified as a change in this table.  We didn't -- as we'd commented earlier, we didn't consider the impacts on anything other than the nuclear liabilities, depreciation and knock-on impacts on tax, et cetera.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Mr. Shepherd makes adjustments for that in his second last line of 16.4, and he used the number 48.3.  And I recall the number for CWIP, both CWIP and the tax implications of CWIP, was I think 37.9, approximately.


MR. REEVE:  Correct.


MR. POCH:  And the difference is, according to -- do you understand the difference or can you help me understand the difference?


MR. REEVE:  The 10.4 million was the OM&A expenditures that were included in the original Darlington refurbishment exhibit.


MR. POCH:  All right.


MR. REEVE:  I can give you the reference, if you would like it.


MR. POCH:  No, that's fine.  That's fine.  Thank you.


But, in addition, I think I understood and I heard correctly that if the Board accepts scenario 4a, for example, there will be -- well, let me just ask it this way.


If the Board were to conclude that, today, for purposes of rate-setting, it is going to go with the dates in 4a as the appropriate ones to use at this point in time, the changes from your filing would be that value you have given us in response to the undertaking and in -- let me say, also, if the Board were to assume that CWIP is not in the case, there would be the 37.9 or approximately what that number is.


But if we assume that you are carrying on with your definition phase of Darlington, you are carrying on with the life extension work you are doing on Pickering B, there would be no adjustment on the O&M.  That 10.4 would not be an adjustment from the rate case; correct?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. REEVE:  Can I just clarify?  I think you said the assumption for Darlington was that we would continue with the definition phase?


MR. POCH:  Yes.


MR. REEVE:  So we would incur that OM&A expenditure, and I think the application for the continued operations assumptions is consistent.


MR. POCH:  Right.  Okay.  So the changes that the Board -- that you would have to make in your draft rate order -- in a draft rate order would be the 242.8 or whatever that number is, scenario 4a, the 37.9 roughly on the CWIP, and then do I understand correctly that you would have to back out a Bruce number because of this discussion of GAAP we heard this morning?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  So there are two further considerations to what you are mentioning there, and I am not commenting on the CWIP at this point.


MR. POCH:  That's fine.


MR. REEVE:  The Bruce impacts, as I mentioned before, in accordance with GAAP, that impact would, if we were -- as we've used GAAP in our application, we wouldn't capture the 131.7.


Furthermore, as we were discussing with Mr. Shepherd, if we were to assume an earlier date -- so under scenario 4a, we have Darlington at 2019.  There are certain expenditures contemplated in the test period for capital expenditures that would not meet the definition of capital, because there isn't the high confidence of life extension.  So that impact would have to be captured, as well.


MR. POCH:  Right.  So the impact would be you would lower it by 131.9, but then you'd raise it by the shift of capital to O&M?  That would be the impact on revenue requirement?


MR. REEVE:  I'm sorry, the 131.9?  I am not quite following you.


MR. POCH:  I took it that the 131.9 in your scenario 4a, it is given -- it is included in the 242; is it not?


MR. REEVE:  That's the Bruce impacts?


MR. POCH:  Yes.  Let me just...


MR. REEVE:  So another way to look at it is:  What is the impact on the prescribed facilities, the 110.8 --


MR. POCH:  Right.


MR. REEVE:  -- in line 14?


MR. POCH:  Okay.  So that is really what would change in this case.  The 110.8 would change?


MR. REEVE:  So 110.8, just to be clear, is the impact of changes in nuclear liabilities, changes in depreciation expense from the dates that we've been talking about, and consequent impacts on rate base; therefore, return on rate base and the tax impacts.  That is the 110.8.


MR. POCH:  All right.  So that is the -- that is what is going to flow through into the payments calculation?


MR. MAUTI:  I don't think either of us are rate experts, but you mentioned the CWIP and the expenditures on Darlington refurbishment, which currently are foreseen as being capital, but without that high confidence, would likely be subject to and considered as OM&A costs.


MR. POCH:  I think that is a lot clearer for me.  Thank you.  One second.  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  Mr. Buonaguro is next.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Good morning, panel.


MR. MAUTI:  Good morning.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I just wanted to try and help out with one of the lines of questions that Mr. Poch raised first.


He took you to J11.05, which is an undertaking that I believe I asked for, at least in part, and was asking about the 2010 impact of the Darlington refurbishment project.  And he took you to the last line, which said total impact of Darlington refurbishment project, $137.9 million -- sorry, negative, and asked you whether that was the -- I guess, he didn't put it this way, but I guess I would call it the benefit to OPG in 2010 of having flowed through the Darlington refurbishment project the impact in 2010.


You mentioned the possibility that there may be impacts that were captured or not captured in the variance accounts.


Now, this particular undertaking response was a follow-up, from my point of view, to one of our interrogatories, which was L-14-35.  I had it.


[Laughter]


MR. BUONAGURO:  In there we asked -- it was a similar question.  It was a little more narrowly construed, because it had to do specific with nuclear liabilities, but just in reading L-14-35, it says here -- the response, in part, was:

"Attachment 1 is a calculation in the manner of Exhibit C2, tab 1, schedule 2, table 4, for 2010, which provides the revenue requirement impact of the Darlington refurbishment project.  This table excludes the impacts related to the Bruce facilities as they are already captured in the Bruce lease variance account." 


Do you see that?


MR. MAUTI:  Yes, we do.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So if we go back to J11.05, my understanding is, if we take that answer and apply it to 11.05, what that means is, looking at this table, there are three, quote, "total impacts", I think, that are relevant.  There is, at line 18, total impact of prescribed facilities of $109.7 million, total impact of Bruce facilities of $28.2 million, and then the total impact which adds to those two previous impacts of $137.9 million.


My understanding based on the last -- on the undertaking -- I'm sorry, interrogatory response I gave you is that the $28.2 million specific to Bruce would have been captured in the Bruce lease variance account for 2010.


Then if we're talking about an impact of the Darlington refurbishment project for both nuclear liabilities and other impacts in 2010, the "benefit," quote/unquote, for -- relative to the budget for OPG in 2010 is the $109.7 million.  Does that sound right to you?


MR. MAUTI:  I am trying to remember back to the day in the hearing.  I believe when we took you to that original or we went to the original L-14-35, the issue was it only dealt with liabilities.  You wanted to see the full impact in the liability calculation.  We had excluded the impact on the Bruce facilities because of the variance account.


J11.05, for the prescribed facilities, would give you that full look in 2010, including the waste obligations and the impact on taxes and the regular fixed assets of the facility.


I forgot your question, I'm sorry.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess maybe -- I think it is a very simple undertaking, maybe, which is just to confirm that when you look at J11.05, everything from line 19 to 27 is actually captured in the Bruce lease variance account, similar to how it was described as being captured in L-14-35.


MR. REEVE:  I am just hesitating.  I am looking at the second page of Undertaking J11.5.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Mm-hmm.


MR. REEVE:  There is a bullet point there, (c).


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. REEVE:  And I think it is suggesting -- I am not an expert on variance accounts -- but I think it is suggesting it is not the entire 28.2 million that gets taken to the variance account, but there is an adjustment for tax, which is line 25.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. REEVE:  So I think that is how you go about the variance account.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you've answered the undertaking.


MR. REEVE:  I think that is the --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  You're saying that (c) gives me the answer I am looking for?


MR. REEVE:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  I just wanted to make sure that was clear, it having been raised this morning.


MR. REEVE:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, looking at K16.1, I think you confirmed for Mr. Shepherd that -- and looking at all of the different scenarios in the table, scenario 3 is the scenario that reflects what was embedded, or what is embedded in the prevailing rate order, the rate order from -– that ostensibly covers the 2008 to 2009 test period?


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  The dates as reflected in scenario 3 were the ones that were reflected in that first hearing and rate order.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  My understanding -- perhaps you can answer this question.


With respect to reference plans, the current approved reference plan is the 2006 plan?


MR. MAUTI:  Sometimes we use 2006, '07, but yes, it was the one done in 2006 for the 2007 to '12 –- '07 to '11 period.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  My understanding is that scenario 3 is also, of the scenarios here, the one that reflects that reference plan?


MR. MAUTI:  Those are the dates that are consistent with the dates that were used in that 2007 reference plan, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  In raising this issue earlier, it was suggested to me that the base case, column A here, at least the impacts associated with the base case were also consistent with the reference plan.


MR. MAUTI:  I believe in the evidence I provided that the implication from extending the life of Darlington by the 30 years used the baseline cost estimates, which I spoke to a bit this morning, from the 2007 reference plan, as a basis to make those changes for accounting, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it uses the cost information from the approved reference plan, but my understanding is that it doesn't use the lifespans that are embedded in the reference plan.  I think that is the difference.


MR. MAUTI:  Well, the key change we made as part of our base case submission that you see in column -- the first column of K16.1 reflects the extension of Darlington.


So that is not the assumed date for the -- in the reference plan.  So we used, again, the information from the reference plan to determine the impact of the change in end-of-life.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, just one last question, and it has been gone over a couple of times. I just want to make sure I understand how to read these tables.  I will use the example of the CWIP.


I think the figure that was given for CWIP, the impact in the test periods of CWIP was $39.7 million or so?


MR. REEVE:  37.9.


MR. BUONAGURO:  37.9?


MR. REEVE:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  Thank you.  And just reading line 5, my understanding from what I have heard today is that, for example, in column A when we look at $233.1 million, that is the revenue deficiency in the application associated with nuclear, and that that includes the impact of the $37.9 million for CWIP related to Darlington?


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. MAUTI:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And in addition, that same $37.9 million exists in all of the columns when we're talking about revenue requirement.


So for example, if we skip over to scenario 3, even though in that scenario Darlington is assumed to have a lifespan to 2019, and arguably that means that the Darlington refurbishment project is assumed to not be occurring, it includes a revenue requirement impact related to CWIP in rate base for Darlington of 37.9 million?


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct, consistent with that last bullet in the appendix 1 of our J10.11 submission.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.


Those are my questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. DeRose? 

Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.


Panel, the first question I have relates to K16.1, which you filed this morning.  Do you have that?


MR. MAUTI:  Yes, we do.


MR. REEVE:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  I just want to just make sure that I understand what is and is not included in this calculation.


The change in the nuclear payment amounts that you are showing -- and perhaps just by way of illustration, if we compare your base case at line 11, you have $55.34.


If we compare that to scenario number 2, it goes up to $60.98.  Do you see that?


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  Okay.  So that $5 increase --ballpark it -- $5 increase is related only to the change in the depreciation; is that correct?


MR. MAUTI:  Correct, the depreciation as it relates to the nuclear liabilities tax impacts.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So that would not include the other related -- what I would call non-depreciation costs that would be associated with - and let's take scenario 2 -if Pickering A and B came to their end-of-life in 2014, and Darlington there was no refurbishment, the nuclear payment amounts that you are showing on K16.1 does not include all of the non-depreciation costs that would be associated with that scenario?


MR. MAUTI:  That's a bit of a double negative in there.


MR. DeROSE:  Well --


MR. MAUTI:  It doesn't include the removal -– as, again, as stated in our assumptions -- the cost profile, production levels and whatnot are not changed as a result.


MR. DeROSE:  So for instance, the production impacts on Pickering B continued operation, Darlington refurbishment project, CWIP in rate base, all of those items, if scenario 2 actually came about -- so if in reality, scenario 2 occurred -- the payment amounts would not be 60.98; there would be additional changes associated with all of the non-depreciation-related expenses?


MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  As Mr. Crawford said, there would be a rate order submission and we would go from there in terms of assessment and questions on it.


MR. DeROSE:  Right.  I guess really I am trying to simplify this, that what you are showing here in terms of the nuclear payment amounts associated with –- and I will use the example, scenario 2 -- is not actually what the nuclear payment amounts would be if scenario 2 occurred.  That is only the change related to your depreciation analysis.  There would be additional incremental changes up or down and we don't know what they are?


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Can I just take you –- again, just on the -- at page 6 of 6, this is the elements of the revenue requirement, the assumptions that you have included in?


I will take, by way of example, proposal to include CWIP in rate base for the Darlington refurbishment project.


If this Panel were to find that CWIP is not appropriate, so that there should be a $37.9 million reduction in the revenue requirement, that would not affect the calculations that you provide for each of the scenarios, would it?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  These scenarios did not contemplate a change.  We were not asked to model the impact of CWIP in -- in rate base, so we didn't include that in our scenarios.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So all things being equal, if the Board directed you to calculate depreciation in accordance with scenario 1, which you have associated there is a 10-1/2-million-dollar reduction in revenue requirement and said that CWIP should not be included in rate base, there would be a $37.9 million reduction associated with CWIP and a 10-1/2-million-dollar reduction associated with the depreciation?


MR. REEVE:  You meant to refer to attachment 1a?  I think you said attachment 1, just to align the dates with what is in evidence for the continuing operations.


MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, I think I said scenario 1.  I believe scenario 1 is the 10-1/2-million-dollar revenue requirement reduction; correct?


MR. MAUTI:  Scenario 1 is, but, as we indicated this morning, scenario 1a would have a recalculation of the average end-of-life dates for the Pickering stations, which would align with our continued operations strategy.


MR. DeROSE:  But am I right that we would make both of those adjustments independent?  They are not interrelated in any way?


MR. MAUTI:  I don't believe they are, no.


MR. DeROSE:  Just on a final point, if I can take you to Exhibit K16.2.  If you have a copy that has page numbers on it, I would be taking you to page 25.


If you are using Mr. Shepherd's, that has cut off the numbers.  It is 12 pages in to the document, so if you count 12.  And, actually, I'm sorry, count 14.  It shows why I am not an accountant.


If you go 14 pages, on the right-hand side it goes to -- half way, the very top paragraph says, "In the meantime".  Do you have that?


MR. MAUTI:  Yes, we do.


MR. REEVE:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  I am just going to make sure...


Panel, are you able to -- do you have that?


The second paragraph on the right, it says:

"OPG will invest $300 million to ensure the continued safe and reliable performance of its Pickering B station for approximately ten years to 2020." 


Now, when I read that in the long-term plan, I read that to refer to your Pickering B continued operations initiative.  Is there any reason -- are you aware of any reason why that is not a fair assumption for me to make?


MR. MAUTI:  No.  I do believe this paragraph is consistent with our strategy to obtain continued operations.  The dates seem to be appropriately lined up.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are all of my questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Mr. Rubin.


MR. RUBIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubin:


MR. RUBIN:  Panel, we have met.  I am Norman Rubin.  I am here For Energy Probe.  I have a few follow-up questions and a few high-level questions.


Without going through the list, in every -- every time there is a choice of end-of-life date -- using a different assumption, let's say extending the assumed life of a nuclear plant raises revenue requirements in some categories and lowers it in others?  Isn't that always true?


If we assume a plant is going to run X years longer than we thought it was going to, doesn't that have effects that have to be netted out against each other because they have both sides?


MR. REEVE:  Yes.  As we got into a discussion with Mr. Shepherd, there are -- if you changed the life, there is a depreciation impact on the non-ARC portion.  Then we have to model what the impact is on nuclear liabilities, which impacts the asset retirement obligation, which is another component of the fixed asset balance, which in turn has a depreciation impact.


So those can go in different directions, depending on what happens with the nuclear liabilities and how they're allocated across the stations.


MR. RUBIN:  My question is a little stronger than your answer, and I am wondering if that is because you are answering "no", or if it is just because you haven't answered "yes" yet; that is, isn't it always true that there are terms that go in each of the two available directions?


MR. MAUTI:  Speaking to the nuclear liabilities area, when you extend the life of a plant, decommissioning, present value, holding everything else constant, it would go down, because you're pushing out the cost into the future.


You would, if you are going to extend the life of a plant, be generating incremental waste.  That station would, therefore, pick up, if you assume a certain level of fixed costs, a higher portion of fixed costs holding all else constant.  Others would have a lower portion of those fixed costs.


So from a waste perspective, we do tend to see increases and decreases from changing one station life.


MR. RUBIN:  And the effect on depreciation, in general, of extending a life is that you depreciate less during each of the remaining years?


MR. MAUTI:  That part may not hold true.  I guess the example I can show you is with Darlington.  Our base submission is Darlington refurbishment has an increased, net increase, in liabilities of $293 million, but the impact when you allocate those changes, positive, negative, to stations which have different lives, it actually reduces the revenue requirement.


So while you have increased liability, you have reduced revenue requirement.


MR. RUBIN:  Sorry, my question was about depreciation rather than nuclear liabilities.


When you extend the life of a station, the depreciation cost that assigned to each year or to the test period always drops, doesn't it?


MR. REEVE:  No.  What my colleague was saying is that is not always the case, because if you take the pure non-asset retirement cost portion of fixed assets, that is true.  If you pushed the life out, depreciation goes down.  If you bring the life back earlier, then depreciation goes up.


Where it gets more involved is the asset retirement cost piece, which is a function of the nuclear liabilities.  For example --


MR. RUBIN:  Yes, I was going to leave that out.


MR. SMITH:  Let's let the witness answer.


MR. REEVE:  For example, in the case of Darlington, when you look at the difference between 2019 and 2051, there is a significant increase or reduction in the asset retirement cost, depending on what your starting point is.  But there is a significant delta between the two.  There is also a significant delta in the life assumption.  So you have ten years rather than 42 years.


So it doesn't always go in the same direction.  There can be offsetting impacts.  But the complication arises just because of the nuclear liabilities and the impact on the asset retirement cost portion of the fixed asset balance.


It is hard to draw a simple:  It goes this way or that way.  That is why we have these scenarios to model the different impacts.


MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  I understand the scenarios are there, and forgive me to try -- for continuing to try to tease out patterns, but I am going to take another couple of minutes to do -- to try to do exactly that.


If we can leave aside for the moment ARC and ARO, leave aside the fact that these are nuclear plants that have significant and -- expenses for essentially environmental cleanups.  If we can leave that out and just treat these as if they were marshmallow factories or something that would be of zero net value at the end of its life rather than of negative net value.


To that extent, in financial treatment, the depreciation of the asset, would you agree with me that that part of the complicated universe is reasonably straightforward that if it is going to have shorter life, then we have to capture depreciation faster, and, if it is expected to have a longer life, we will capture depreciation in revenue requirement more slowly?  Is that fair?


MR. REEVE:  I answered that part of the question, just getting away from marshmallows for a second, in the context of the non-ARC portion of the fixed asset balance.


So you are right, in that if you assume there is no change in asset retirement obligation and therefore asset retirement cost, you are just left with a fixed asset balance.  If the depreciation is over a longer period, expense goes down.


MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  Let me now see if I can tease a little bit of simplicity out of ARC and ARO.  And at least in my mind, the two jobs that we're trying to fund with these complicated accounting mechanisms, the two jobs are decommissioning and waste disposal, and those are rather separate jobs. 


Are you with me so far? 


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.


MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  If we focus for a moment on -- I think you have addressed the question of waste disposal, that there are offsetting and complicated calculations.  And is it fair to say that it is the complexities of the waste disposal numbers that largely drove the date of today's session, why we didn't have this session a month ago?


MR. MAUTI:  I think that was articulated when the undertaking was undertaken, that that was the requirement for the extended period of time to produce the evidence, was because of the, as you mentioned, complicated, interrelated and multi-step process to figure out the impact of liabilities, nuclear liabilities.


MR. RUBIN:  And specifically of nuclear waste part of the liabilities; isn't that fair, too?  That the decommissioning part is straighter-forward, more straightforward than the nuclear waste part? 


MR. MAUTI:  In comparison of the programs, that's probably a fair statement. 


MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  I guess I will settle for a probability at this stage.


So I think you have explained, even clearly enough for me, the factors that go into the nuclear waste calculations, and how everything offsets everything else and the pie has to be re-divided.  So I want to leave that where it stands, and focus on the decommissioning. 


And for the decommissioning, isn't it fair to see that as something else that reacts almost exactly the same as the first thing we discussed today, which is the depreciation for what I believe you've called the bricks and mortar?  In other words there is a fixed cost or estimated cost for decommissioning, and if we postpone it into the future and allow for more years of rates and more years of generation, we'll just be able to collect that more slowly?


Isn't that how it works? 


MR. MAUTI:  There is a directional consistency that the longer you operate a station, the lower the present value cost of decommissioning is.  So it tends to be more logically consistent, so to speak.


MR. RUBIN:  And the lower the revenue requirement, say, this year or next year or during the two years of the test period; isn't that also true? 


MR. MAUTI:  With a lowering of asset retirement cost and extension of the life of the plant, yes. 


MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  So some of these things really are pretty straightforward, and others are extremely complex.  Okay.  Fine.  Thank you.  That is certainly helpful to me. 


Now, my question is -- I have a fear that I think OPG generally doesn't share, but bear with me, at least on a hypothetical basis.


My fear is that despite the high confidence that you have in some of these life extensions, and perhaps in concert with some of the lower confidence you have in some of the others, I am wondering how the scenario -- the scenarios would play out if we change our minds. 


So if -- let's take a hypothetical -- if the refurbishment of Darlington went the way of the return to service of units 2 and 3 at Pickering A -- you know, God forbid -- but, you know, if we started and started sinking big money in and followed scenarios but did not end up following them to their end dates, and my question is:  Can you help me and can you help this Panel tease out what those scenarios would look like, how they might play out?


And I guess I am just basically -- I see this Panel's decision as partly a choice between ad terrorem outcomes.


I mean, either there is a short-term benefit of, assuming that things are going to go well for a long time, you can lower the revenue requirement, but it may not end up playing out. 


So help me, if you can, what happens if we adopt -- let's take Darlington refurbishment, but it applies to a number of things on this -- on your pages.  If we take Darlington refurbishment, if we go ahead, assume that it is going to happen, and then several years from now it doesn't, what does that scenario look like?  Just again directionally, in simplest terms for me?


Mr. Smith:  Members of the Panel, I have a concern with my friend's question, not just because it is hypothetical in the extreme, but it is assuming changes out of the test period, which will have an impact.


So in terms of the decision to set payment amounts in this application, I don't see how, even on my friend's formulation of the question, it could have any relevance. 


MR. RUBIN:  Well, Madam Chair, I believe this comes to the prudence of basically following a path, following one of these scenarios and putting items into rate base or leaving them out. 


MR. SMITH:  But --


MR. RUBIN:  And if we're going to have to catch up later in a hurry, because we -- in hindsight, we should have put something in rate base during this test period and we didn't, then that, I would take as a failure of decision-making of all of us collectively.


And I am trying to avoid that. 


MR. SMITH:  My friend's answer highlights the irrelevance and the lack of timeliness of his question.


A, we're not dealing with this test period, and B, if his concern is the prudence of Darlington refurbishment or Pickering continued operations, there were panels that dealt with this.


He certainly had an opportunity, which he took, to explore that.  And in my view it is improper to explore it again.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, I think what we're looking at now are the financial implications of the various scenarios.  So I think that is a different question. 


So I think Mr. Rubin, as I understand what Mr. Rubin is asking, is in light of the magnitude of the potential effects, given the different assumptions, if the particular assumption that the case is built on turns out to change, what is the magnitude of the swings in the revenue requirements that we're potentially looking at. 


So we will allow the question. 


MR. SMITH:  Okay.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Because I think the Board does need to have some conception of what the longer-term effects could be of these very significant amounts of money. 


MR. RUBIN:  Please.  Thank you. 


MR. MAUTI:  I would ask you to repeat the question.


MR. RUBIN:  No, there isn't time. 


[Laughter.]


MR. MAUTI:  I guess as a finance and accounting person, I would need to know some details about what exact assumptions you have, when they were to happen, but the scenarios use and our base scenario uses an assumption of a refurbished Darlington plant to 2051.


If your answer is limited to Darlington and what happens if Darlington does not go forward, I believe that just reverts back to scenario 3, it sounds like.


And if your issue is on timing, as to when that would be done, I don't know if I would have any way to be able to simply suggest I could answer that for you.


MR. RUBIN:  I don't want to put a whole scenario to you.  I mean, obviously I don't want you are to recalculate an alternative, you know, a fifth scenario.  That is not why we're here.  That is not why I am here. 


On the other hand, if we go on the assumption, any one of these assumptions -- I don't think this is limited to Darlington refurb, but I am happy to put that as the question -- and if we say, Sure, it will run for 2051 and we will base rates on that assumption, and then it runs till 2025, and for reasons that we don't have confidence in today and don't know today, it turns out we should have been collecting depreciation and retirement at a faster rate, I guess my question is -– well, let me ask you -- let me ask you one question just based on the evidence, and maybe you could steer me to something.


Is there anywhere I will find in the evidence any reflection of that kind of uncertainty?


MR. REEVE:  I have some recollection of a cross that happened on the Darlington refurbishment panel -- I believe it was with Mr. Shepherd -- just in terms of were we to get a couple of years down the road and make a decision that we would not continue with Darlington refurbishment, what the impacts would be.  That is the only recollection I have of any.  I can't talk to -- or I don't recall what happened on other panels to try and get to a scenario of 2025, and then model what the impact would be.


MR. RUBIN:  Let me -- I think my question was too vague.


Is there any way the numbers were treated that would suggest a treatment of that uncertainty?  You didn't, in any way, put in the numbers -- in your 2051 scenario there isn't, for example, a front-end loading of decommissioning costs to reflect the fact that operation and rate recovery in the year 2051 for Darlington is a smidge more uncertain than it is in 2011?


MR. MAUTI:  No.  The impact through depreciation is on a straight-line basis.


I can take you to the ONFA approach and the reference plan, which is a recast on -- revised assumptions and updated assumptions every five years, and the funding happens on a straight-line basis over the remaining lives of the plants in terms of segregated fund contributions.


So there is no front-end loading, as an example, to deal with that.


MR. RUBIN:  That linearity, that straight-line accounting, is that something that is forced on you either by GAAP or by the OEB past decisions or anything else, or is this an OPG decision?


MR. REEVE:  The straight-line depreciation is in accordance with GAAP.


MR. MAUTI:  And --


MR. RUBIN:  And the collection of liabilities?


MR. MAUTI:  And ONFA does a straight-line calculation in terms of funding contributions from --


MR. RUBIN:  Sorry, who does?


MR. MAUTI:  The ONFA agreement to fund contributions reflects a straight line between the current date you do in the reference plan and the end of station life.


MR. RUBIN:  I think I am almost finished.  Let me see.


There was a brief description of the refurbishment plans and the government's long-term energy plan, and I don't want to spend long on that and neither does anybody else.


But my reading of what I have seen coming out of the government is that sometimes they're talking about ten reactors being refurbished and sometimes they're talking about 10,000 megawatts of capacity being refurbished.


Do you recall the current end-of-life dates that OPG assumes for the Bruce A reactors?  One of you is on the depreciation review committee, I think.


MR. REEVE:  I believe it was 2035.


MR. RUBIN:  2035.  So that would be a post-refurbishment number for all four of those reactors, would it not?


MR. REEVE:  I believe so.


MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  And for Bruce B, I believe you have said today that it is quite a bit shorter.  It is 2014 

or -- and, again, that is for all four of those reactors?


MR. MAUTI:  That is correct.


MR. REEVE:  Correct.


MR. MAUTI:  It is the same averaging of the different units like we do for our plants, but it does not assume a refurbishment, no.


MR. RUBIN:  Right.  Understood.  Thank you.


Going back just briefly to my high-level-isn't-this-simple questions at the beginning, is it not -- isn't it always true that when you add up the pluses and minuses, that extending -- at least within the scenarios you have looked at here for us, that extending lives of nuclear units lowers revenue requirement during the test period and shortening them raises it?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. MAUTI:  Again, being an accountant, I don't like dealing in absolutes and "always", but I do believe even the evidence suggests that under scenario 1a, I believe the revenue requirement delta from our base scenario ends up going up.  And the only change between our base submission and 1a is a net extension of life of Pickering units.


You have four Pickering units being extended.  Two are coming up a little bit, but it is a net extension of life for Pickering from continued operations, and the revenue requirement actually is increased.


MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  So with that four-year extension, basically the operating costs -- that include OM&A for the C-O-O-P, for the continued operations, does it, or is this --


MR. MAUTI:  The OM&A is in every scenario, so it doesn't swing the scenario one way or the other.


MR. RUBIN:  But continuing operations is largely being funded out of OM&A, isn't it?


MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  All I'm suggesting is we don't take the OM&A piece in or out of any one of the scenarios.


MR. RUBIN:  Even without counting that, you're saying that is a counter example to my simple rule; is that what you're saying?


MR. MAUTI:  I believe so.  If you look at 

addendum 2 --


MR. RUBIN:  Okay.


MR. MAUTI:  -- I can find the table reference for you.  There is a lot of tables.  Table 1 of attachment 1a has a total revenue requirement impact on line 24 of an increase of $6.7 million.


Again, 1a has an overall extension of life for the Pickering units as a whole.


MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  And those are my questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair, and good morning, panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.


MR. MAUTI:  Good afternoon.


MR. MILLAR:  It is the afternoon.  My mistake.  But hopefully we won't go much further into the afternoon.  


If I could ask you to pull up J10.11, which obviously you have before you, a couple of questions about your base case to start.  First, you can confirm for me the base case as presented in undertaking J10.11 matches the application?  That is the --


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Those are the numbers you used for the application.  Can you confirm for me that the end-of-service lives in the base case are based on the 2009 depreciation review committee report or are consistent with the numbers in that report?


MR. REEVE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And that report was approved by OPG's senior management?


MR. REEVE:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And, in fact, that report is filed as part of this application; is that correct?


MR. REEVE:  Yes, it was.


MR. MILLAR:  And I take it that you would currently be working on the 2010 edition of the DRC report?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Has it been completed yet?


MR. REEVE:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  When do you expect it will be?


MR. REEVE:  I would say it would be completed -- ordinarily we have finalized the depreciation committee review report by the end of the year.  Typically, we implement any changes from that effective January 1 the following year.  That is typically our process.  So we would look to be finalizing it in the next month.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I take it that that 2010 depreciation review committee report would contain OPG's latest official view and recommendation and approvals with respect to the end-of-service life dates for the prescribed facilities?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Could we ask you to file that when it is completed?


MR. SMITH:  Sorry.  Just one moment, Mr. Millar.


My guess -- this is my concern with the request, and it is not so much related to the document itself as related to the reason for the request.


By the time the document is finalized, all argument will be in.  All panels will have been called.  The Board will be deliberating on its decision.


There are many documents that OPG prepares that I suppose have some connection with the application, and my concern is just a generic one about filing material subsequent to the close of a case.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, perhaps I can set my friend's mind at ease.  I do recognize that concern.


The only purpose we would want to see that document and the only circumstances in which it would be relevant and that further steps might be taken is if for some reason, the end-of-service-life dates in the 2010 report do not match the ones in the 2009 report.


In other words, if the base case, as presented in this application, would have to be changed, essentially. 


That, I think, would be a very material change in the application, as we've seen by some of the numbers that flow from Undertaking J10.11.  To the extent there are other minor changes in the depreciation review study, I agree with Mr. Smith that it is too late to get into those type of issues now, so we would only want to see it for the purpose of confirming that OPG's views on the end-of-service-life dates for the nuclear facilities has not changed.


MR. SMITH:  Well, I understand my friend's concern.  I think the principal objection remains, and I am in your hands. 


MS. CHAPLIN:  The Panel understands the concern that Staff has identified.  However, I think should something of that magnitude occur, I am not -- no, we are not going to require that. 


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I can, without requiring a 

filing -- let me just ask a couple of follow-up questions on that.


Mr. Reeve, are you involved in the preparation of this report?


MR. REEVE:  Yes, I am.


MR. MILLAR:  Should we have any reason to expect that the end-of-life dates for the prescribed facilities will be any different in the 2010 report than in the 2009 report? 


MR. SMITH:  Well, I mean, I suppose it is the same concern, but you have my --


MR. MILLAR:  Well, the evidentiary portion is still open now.  That's why I think it is fair to put that to the witness.


MR. SMITH:  I am in the Board's hands on the question. 


MS. CHAPLIN:  That does seem to be a fair question, based on the information he has available to him now, what is his understanding or expectation.


MR. REEVE:  So as I mentioned before, the depreciation review committee report for 2010 has not yet been completed and been through the necessary approvals internally. 


At this point, I am not aware of any material changes. 


MR. MILLAR:  To the end-of-service-life dates for Pickering?


MR. REEVE:  To the end-of-service-life dates for Pickering, correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And Darlington? 


MR. REEVE:  And Darlington.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I guess we will leave it at that.  Thank you. 


One final area.  If I could ask you to turn to page 3 of the undertaking response, the top bullet, and it's short so I'll just read it out.  It says:

"The end-of-life of 2051 for Darlington reflects OPG's high confidence that the Darlington refurbishment project will be completed as approved by the OPG's board of directors in November 2009 and endorsed by the province."


I have a couple of questions of the level of approval we have.  And indeed, we have been through this with a couple of witnesses, and I just want to make sure that the information that has been provided here through this undertaking response is consistent with the testimony we have heard from some previous witnesses. 


So I am going to take you to a couple of areas and we will see where we get. 


I assume you have the transcripts available to you?  There is a set there. 


MR. MAUTI:  Yes, they are here.


MR. MILLAR:  I am going to be referring to two transcripts, Volume 8 and then volume 13. 


Do you have that?


MR. MAUTI:  I think we're ready. 


MR. MILLAR:  You may recall -- I am not sure either of you were on either of these panels, but you may be aware there was some discussion between the intervenors and the company regarding the level of approval that the Darlington refurbishment project had from OPG's board of directors. 


MR. REEVE:  I was on the refurbishment panel.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you will be familiar with that.


Could I ask you to turn to page 52, first, of volume 8?  And this was an exchange between Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Reiner.  Again, that is page 52, and starting at line 7, this is Mr. Shepherd's question:

"Do I understand correctly that notwithstanding whatever the Board says..."


And I think he meant the Ontario Energy Board in that context.

"...you are planning to proceed with your current plan for Darlington refurbishment, at least for the next two years?  Is that fair?"


Mr. Reiner responded:

"That's fair.  We would proceed with our definition phase work to get to a decision point for our board of directors, which is sort of outlined in the release strategy diagram in our evidence."


Then if you flip ahead to page 56, looking down at line 20, Mr. Shepherd has an additional question.  He says:

"And your go/no-go decision, the formal, 'Okay, we're going to do it' decision is 2014, you currently expect; right?"


And then Mr. Reiner doesn't quite say "yes" but he says:

“Well, 2014 will be a key milestone.  That is when we will have the release quality estimate to complete the entire project."


Then he discusses there will be some other steps. 


So you see that?  I would like to take you now to -- there was a subsequent discussion that I think it was Mr. Shepherd had with Mr. Barrett, and that is in Volume 13. 


I think maybe the best way to put it is Mr. Barrett clarified that answer a little bit, but I will ask you to turn to page 80 -- 82, in fact. 


Mr. Shepherd, just to provide a bit of background, is asking about the same issue essentially, the level of approval that the Darlington refurbishment project has internally from OPG.


I think Mr. Barrett says it fairly succinctly at page 82, starting at line 5.  He says:

"What the Board has approved in respect to this project is the timing of the project, the decision to proceed with the project, and the overall release strategy.  The next step in terms of proceeding with that project is to move into the definition phase, and there are subsequent gates.  Now, I think as you heard from our witnesses, if things go unexpectedly.  Or something, you know, doesn't go right with the project based on our certain plans, you can stop it at one of those gates.  It can either be delayed or stopped.  But based on all of the analysis and work that we have done, we expect the project to continue through the gates that we have set out for it.  But the final release, for example, of the execution funds won't happen until one of the subsequent gates."


Do you see that?


MR. REEVE:  Yes.


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Does that match -- is that consistent with your understanding of the level of internal approval at OPG for the Darlington refurbishment project? 


MR. REEVE:  Yes, it is. 


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you would agree with me that there are gates to come.  I don't want to use the word "approvals" if it is improper, but the final release of funds has not happened yet; is that correct? 


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  The gating relates to the release of funds.


MR. MILLAR:  So presumably a further decision by -- I guess it is the board of directors is required before --before you can complete the project? 


MR. REEVE:  The board of directors would have to decide whether they would release the funds for the next stage in the process. 


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So there are further positive steps required from the board of directors before you can complete this project; is that fair? 


MR. REEVE:  Well, I recall a discussion around project management principles with the Darlington refurbishment panel, and the -- breaking the project down into steps and going back to the board with an update on what the developments have been to date and a request for more funds is done at various points during the project.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So --


MR. REEVE:  So there is a step, in terms of going back to the board and asking for a release of funds.


MR. MILLAR:  To be clear, so the board will have to make a positive decision to release those funds?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So is it quite accurate, then, to say, going back to what is stated at page 3 in J10.11, it seems to state here the project has been approved to completion by the OPG board. 


Is that really accurate to say prior to the approval of the release of the funds? 


MR. SMITH:  With respect, I think you need to put the entire quote to the witness, because it says:

“The end-of-life of 2051 for Darlington reflects OPG's high confidence that the Darlington refurbishment project will be completed as approved by the OPG's board of directors in November 2009..."


And the evidence which has -- was extensive on this point is yes, OPG has high confidence that the project will be completed through to the completion of refurbishment. 


MR. MILLAR:  Well, thank you for that, Mr. Smith.  That is helpful.  I guess maybe I should be more specific in my question.


I am not so much focussed on the high confidence part and end-of-life for 2051.  I understand the evidence on that, but the statement says the project will be completed as approved by OPG's board of directors. 


I guess I am just not certain you have approval from the board of directors to complete the project. 


MR. SMITH:  Well, Members of the Panel, I mean, this is an area that Mr. Millar and Mr. Shepherd and others have cross-examined on at length, and I don't see the utility of further cross-examination, and indeed, OPG's position as to what it has approval on, including the site, to Mr. Barrett's evidence is already contained in its argument-in-chief, which my friend has the benefit of and presumably will be responding to if he has a different view next Tuesday.


MR. MILLAR:  Let me put it another way, then.  I take it that nothing you are saying here in bullet point 1 -- I shouldn't take that to contradict what Mr. Barrett said in volume 13, page 82?


MR. MAUTI:  I believe the bullet on page 3 was more of an indication of the confidence level and why we selected 2051 as part of our base application, where this is one of many bullets that go to the point of suggesting why what we submitted in our base application is appropriate.


MR. MILLAR:  There have been no subsequent approvals by OPG's board of directors since Mr. Barrett gave his testimony on October 29th?


MR. SMITH:  No.


MR. REEVE:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  Nothing additional has happened since then?


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  The panel has no questions, so the witnesses are excused with the Board's --


MR. SMITH:  I just have one question in re-examination, if I may.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Of course.  Certainly, Mr. Smith.

Re-Examination by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  I hope it is not unnecessary, but there was an exchange, Members of the Panel, that you had with Mr. Shepherd early on, and I believe it was in reference to table 5 of attachment 1 of undertaking J10.11.


It might have been the addendum.  No, I'm sorry.  I've got the wrong cite.  It was in relation to K16.4.


Mr. Shepherd referred you to the $54.4 million under the total revenue requirement impact of the Bruce facilities, and he indicated that that figure would be removed.


And my question, I suppose for you, Mr. Reeve, is:  Your answer to that, does that include or reflect the change to capitalization that would occur if Darlington were not refurbished?


MR. REEVE:  I am just following the -- so the reference is to line 23 on Exhibit K16.4, the $54.4 million impact.  And what we're saying is our GAAP treatment for Darlington refurbishment is we have high confidence that it will extend the life to 2051, and, therefore, our treatment of Bruce will need to reflect that assumption.


Mr. Smith:  I see.  Then if Darlington -- under a scenario where Darlington is not extended to 2051, can you just comment on the shift, if any, between capital and OM&A spending?


MR. REEVE:  For the Darlington refurbishment project?


MR. SMITH:  Yes.


MR. REEVE:  So what would happen if we were to be -- to be instructed to use 2019 for Darlington, so no refurbishment, any expenditures contemplated during the test period that are capital in nature would likely be OM&A.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

Procedural Matters:


MS. CHAPLIN:  The panel is excused with the Board's thanks.  Unless there are any other matters, I believe that concludes for today.


Just for review purposes, I believe next Tuesday the 30th is when Staff will be filing its submission.  Intervenor submissions are due on the 6th of December, and reply submissions from OPG are due on the 20th of December.


MR. SMITH:  Yes, thank you.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you very much, everyone.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:42 p.m.
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